CIN NO: U63040MH2005PLC158404

Notice of 17'" Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the 17" Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the members of Yatra
Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited) will be held at shorter Notice, on
Saturday, 16™ September, 2023 at 05:30 p.m. (IST) at the Corporate Office of the Company at Gulf
Adiba, 4™ Floor, Plot No. 272, Udyog Vihar, Phase-Il, Sector-20, Gurugram, Haryana, to transact the
following businesses: -

ORDINARY BUSINESSES

1. To receive, consider and adopt the audited standalone and consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2023 together with the reports of Auditors thereon
and Board of Directors.

2. To appoint a director in place of Ms. Neelam Dhawan (DIN 00871445), who retires by rotation and,
being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board of Directors
For Yatra Online Limited
(Formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

— <

)
,‘!‘

Darpan Batra

Company Secretary
Place: Gurugram Membership No. A15719
Date: 15.09.2023 Add: H No 50 A, Block R, Dilshad Garden,

New Delhi -110095

Yatra Online Limited Registered Office: 1 Corporate Office:

(Formerly known as

Yatra Online Prigate Limited) Unit No. B-2/101, 1st Floor, Marathon Innova Building, Gulf Adiba 4th Floor Plot No. 272, Udyaog Vihar,
Marathon Nextgen Complex, B-Wing, G. Kadam Marg, Opp. Phase - Il, Sector 20, Gurugram, Haryana -122008
Peninsula Corporate Park, Lower Parel (West), T: +91 0124 4591700

www.yatra.com Mumbai-400013, Maharashtra. | E: legal@yatra.com

T:+9122 44357700
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NOTES

A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING IS ENTITLED TO
APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND AND VOTE ON A POLL INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/ HERSELF AND THE PROXY
NEED NOT TO BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. THE INSTRUMENT APPOINTING THE PROXY SHOULD,
HOWEVER, BE DEPOSITED AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY DULY COMPLETED NOT LESS
THAN 48 HOURS BEFORE THE SCHEDULED TIME FIXED FOR HOLDING THE MEETING.

A BLANK PROXY FORM IS ENCLOSED.

A person can act as a proxy on behalf of members not exceeding fifty and holding in the aggregate not
more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying voting rights. A member holding
more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying voting rights may appoint a
single person as proxy and such person shall not act as a proxy for any other person or shareholder.
During the period beginning 24 hours before the time fixed for the commencement of the meeting and
ending with the conclusion of the meeting, a member would be entitled to inspect the proxies lodged at
any time during the business hours of the company, provided that not less than three days of notice in
writing is given to the company. '

The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding maintained under Section
170 of the Companies Act, 2013 will be available for inspection by the members at the AGM.

The Register of Contracts or Arrangements in which directors are interested, maintained under Section

189 of the Companies Act, 2013 will be available for inspection by the members at the AGM.
The Landmark for reaching venue of Annual General Meeting is DLF Cyber Park, Gurugram.
Route Map for easy location of Venue of Annual General Meeting is enclosed.

No gifts, gift coupons, or cash in lieu of gifts is distributed in the Meeting.

" The relevant explanatory statement pursuant to section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of the

Special Business as set out above is annexed hereto and form part of this notice.

Members are requested to deliver duly completed and signed attendance slip at the entrance of the
meeting venue, as entry to the hall will be strictly on the basis of the entry slip available at the counter of
the venue to be exchanged with the attendance slip.

The Notice for the Annual General Meeting and the Annual Report will be available for inspection at the
Corporate Office of the Company on all working days in business hour up to the date of Annual General
Meeting.

All documents referred to in the accompanying notice and explanatory statement are open for inspection
at the Corporate Office of the Company during the office hours on all working days (except Saturdays,
Sundays and. Public Holidays) between 01:30 P.M. to 04:00 P.M up to the date of this Annual General
Meeting.

In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the order of names
will be entitled 1o vote.

. Corporate members intending to send their authorized representatives to attend .the meeting are

requested to send to the Company, a certified copy of the Board Resolution authorizing their
representative to attend and vote in their behalf at the meeting.

Since this Annual General Meeting (AGM) is being called at shorter notice, each of the shareholders is
requested to provide the consent for the shorter notice, format whereof is enclosed herewith.



DETAILS OF DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-APPOINTMENT AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (Pursuant to

Secretarial Standard 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India)

Name of Directors

Ms. Neelam Dhawan

Director
Identification
Number (DIN)

00871445

Date of Birth

October 22, 1959

Age

63

Brief Resume

Ms. Dhawan has served as a non-executive member of our Board since
January 2019. She has been a member of the Board of ICICI Bank
Limited since lanuary 2018. She remained on the Board of Skylo
Technologies from December 2020 till December, 2022. She also serves
as a Board Member of Capillary Technologies India Limited, Fractal
iAnalytics Private Limited, Capita PLC, Yatra Online, Inc. and Hindustan
Unilever Limited. In her previous positions, Ms. Dhawan was a
Managing Director of both Microsoft and Hewlett Packard in India and
had been a member of NASSCOM’s Executive Council from 2009 to
2017, where she made significant contributions to industry strategy and
public policy frameworks. Ms. Dhawan also served as Vice President of
Global Industries in Strategic Alliances & Inside Sales for the Asian
Pacific region and Japan and for Hewlett Packard, Singapore from 2017-
2018. Ms. Dhawan holds an MBA from the Faculty of Management
Studies, Delhi, India. Ms. Dhawan is well qualified to serve on our Board
due to her professional experience in executive positions and her
service on the board of directors of other Companies.

First Appointment
on Board

November 01, 2021

Qualification

Ms. Dhawan is an Economics Graduate from St Stephen's College, Delhi
University. She also has an MBA from the Faculty of Management
Studies, University of Delhi, India.

Expertise in Specific
Functional Area

Ms Dhawan has vast experience in the information technology industry
and, since 1982, has held various positions, including that of Managing
Director, across HCL, IBM, Microsoft, and Hewlett Packard. Her last
executive assignment was as Vice President of Asia Pacific and Japan for
Hewlett Packard Enterprise until March 2018.

Over the years, Ms Dhawan has been a key participant in shaping the IT
industry in India. She was on the NASSCOM Executive Council from 2009
to 2017 and significantly contributed to the industry strategy and public
policy frameworks.

Shareholding in the
Company

Nil




Major Role and
function in company

Non-Executive Director of the Company

Relationship  with
other director or
Key Managerial
Personnel of the
company

None

Number of Board
Meetings attended
during the year

4 Board Meetings out of 6 Board Meetings held during the FY 2022-23.

Directorship held in
other companies

1. ICICI Bank Limited

2. Capita PLC

3. Hindustan Unilever Limited

4. Fractal Analytics Private Limited

5. Capillary Technologies India Limited
6. Nudge Lifeskills Foundation

In addition, she is holding directorship in Yatra Online, Inc., the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

. Membership/chairm

Lnship of
committees of other
board

Name of the Name of the Committee | Position
Company
Capillary Stakeholders Chairperson
Technologies India Relationship Committee
Limited
Audit Committee Member
Nomination and Chairperson
Remuneration
Committee
Hindustan Unilever Audit Committee Member
Limited Risk Committee Member
Environmental, Social Member
and Governance
Committee

ILast _
Remuneration

Drawn

Ms. Neelam Dhawan is entitled to sitting fees of INR 50,000 in respect
of each of meetings of the Board and committee thereof.

Terms and conditions
_pf appointment

long with details of
remuneration sought
o be paid

Ms. Neelam Dhawan is proposed to be re-appointed in the capacity of
Director of the Company. No remuneration is proposed to be paid to
Ms. Dhawan in her capacity of being a Director on the Board of the
Company. Ms. Dhawan is entitled to sitting fees of INR 50,000 in
respect of each of meeting of the Board and committee thereof as

attended by her.




FORM No. MGT-11
PROXY FORM
[Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 19(3) of the Companies
{Management and Administration) Rules, 2014/

CIN: U63040MH2005PLC158404
Name of the Company: Yatra Online Limited
Registered Address: B2/101,1% Floor Marathon Innova,
Marathon Nextgen Complex B Wing,
G. Kadam Marg, Opp. Peninsula Corp Park,
Lower Parel, Maharashtra — 400013

Name of the Members:
Registered Address:
E-mail id:

Folio No. / Client Id:
DP ID:

I/We, being the member holding ........ shares of Yatra Online Limited, hereby appoint

1. Name:
Address:
E-mail i1d:
SIgNALUIE: eeveevecrverrrressrearnenns or failing him

T2, Name:

Address:

‘E-mail id:

SIgNAtUre: ....vvererversnennnns, OF failing him
3. Name:

Address:

E-mail id:

SIENAtUre: v rvceccerrereeennen

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 17t Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on Saturday, 16" September, 2023 at 05:30 p.m. (IST) at
corporate office of the Company at Gulf Adiba, 4" Floor, Plot No.272, Udyog Vihar, Phase-Il, Sector-
20, Gurugram-122008 or any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are indicated
below; ’



-| Resolution No. Resolutions Option

Ordinary Business: For Against

1 To receive, consider and adopt the audited standalone and
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended March 31, 2023 together with the
reports of Auditors thereon and Board of Directors-
Ordinary Resolution

2 To appoint a director in place of Ms. Neelam Dhawan (DIN
00871445), who retires by rotation and, being eligible,
offers herself for re-appointment- Ordinary Resolution

Signed this................. day of ccceerrineveiiennnee 2023.

Affix Revenue Stamp
- Signature of shareholder.....................

Signature of Proxy holder(s).....ccceeuueuen..

Notes:

This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the Registered
Office of the Company, not less than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

The proxy form should be signed across the Revenue Stamp as per specimen signature(s) registered
with the Company /depository participant.

It is optional to indicate your preference. If you leave the for, Against or abstain column blank any or
all resolution, your proxy will be entitled to vote in the manner as he/she may deem appropriate.

This form of proxy will be valid only if it is duly complete in all respects, properly stamped and
submitted as per the applicable law. Incomplete form or form which remains undated, unstamped or
- inadequately stamped or form upon which the stamps have not been cancelled will be treated as
invalid.

If Company receives multiple proxies for the same holdings of a member, the proxy which is dated
last will be considered valid; if they are not dated or bear the same date without specific mention of
time, all such multiple proxies will be treated as invalid.



ATTENDANCE SLIP

CIN: U63040MH2005PLC158404
- Name of the Company: YATRA ONLINE LIMITED
Registered Address: B2/101,1st Floor Marathon Innova,
Marathon Nextgen Complex B Wing,
G. Kadam Marg, Opp. Peninsula Corp Park,
Lower Parel, Maharashtra — 400013

Regd. Folio No. / DP ID - Client ID
Name & Address of First/Sole Shareholder
No. of Shares held

I hereby record. my presence at the 17* Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
. Saturday, 16" September, 2023, at 05:30 p.m. (IST) at corporate office of the Company at Guif Adiba,
4% Floor, Plot No. 272, Udyog Vihar, Phase-lIl, Sector-20, Gurugram-122008.

Signature of Member/Proxy

Notes:
a) Only Member/Proxy can attend the meeting. No minors would be allowed at the meeting

b) Member / Proxy wish to attend the meeting must bring this attendance slip-to the meeting and
handover at the entrance duly filled in and signed.



Consent by Shareholder for holding Annual General Meeting at shorter notice and at Gurugram
Pursuant to Section 101 & 96 of the Companies Act, 2013

The Board of Directors

Yatra Online Limited

Registered Office: B2, 101, 1st Floor,

Marathon Innova, Marathon Nextgen Complex,
Off. Peninsula Corp Park, Lower Parel (W)
‘Mumbai- 400013

son of , residing at being authorised representative
o] VRO , which is holding ............... equity shares of face value of Re. 1/- each of Yatra Online
_ Limited, hereby give consent, pursuant to Section 101(1) and 96(2) of the Companies Act, 2013 and
any other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, to hold
the Annual General Meeting on Saturday, 16" September, 2023 at a shorter notice and at Gurugram
instead of the Registered office of the Company, respectively.

For
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ended March 31, 2023 as audited by | documentation of controls,
other auditors, a qualified opinion
has been .issued as Company's
internal control over financial
reporting was not  operating
effectively due to design and
operating ineffectiveness of the IT
.| Beneral controls related to the
Company’s freight forwarding
business to demonstrate accuracy
and completeness of information
used in performance of such contraols.

The Auditors of Yatra For Business | Management clarified that difference was on account of book
Private Limited have, vide paragraph | closing being done subsequent to submission of information to the
ii (b}, commented that Company has | bank,

been sanctioned working capital
limits in excess of Rs. 5 Crores in
aggregate from bank and financial
institution during the year on the
basis of security of current assets of
the parent-Company, Yatra Online
Limited. The quarterly
return/statement filed by the
Company with such banks and
financial institutions are not in
- agreement with audited books of
accounts of the Company.

The Auditors have, vide paragraph vii | The Company and its Subsidiaries Companies i.e. Yatra For
(a}, of respective Auditors’ report of | Business Private Limited, Yatra Hotel Solutions Private Limited,
the Company and its Subsidiaries | Yatra TG Stays Private Limited, Yatra Corporate Hotel Solutions
Companies i.e. Yatra For Business | Private Limited, TS| Yatra Private Limited and Yatra Online Freight
Private Limited, Yatra Hotel Solutions | Services Private Limited have taken note of these and are aware
Private Limited, Yatra TG Stays | of their duty towards depositing statutory dues in time and are
Private Limited, Yatra Corporate | taking necessary steps to comply with the statutory requirement.
Hotef Solutions Private Limited, TSI
Yatra Private Limited and Yatra
Online  Freight Services Private
‘Limited commented on certain slight
delays relating to payment of
statutory dues .

~ Details of frauds reported by auditors under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013

I".}uring the year under review, there were no frauds reported by auditors under Section 143{12} of the
Companies Act, 2013. :

Directors & Key Managerial Personnel

During the year, the Company has re-appointed Mr. Murlidhara Kadaba {DIN: 0143$701) as Director of the
Company, who was liable to retire by rotation at the 16 AGM held during the year.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules made thereunder and Articles of
Association of the Company, Ms. Neelam Dhawan {DIN: 00871445}, Director of the Company, who retires by
rotation at the ensuing AGM and being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment. The Board recommends
her re-appointment at the ensuing AGM. A resolution seeking sharehoiders’ approval for her re-
appointment along with other required details forms part of the AGM Notice.

During the year Mr. Anuj Kumar Sethi, Chief Financial Officer {Key Managerial Personnel) of the Company
resigned with effect from September 22, 2022 from the position of Chief Financial Officer and the Board,
upon the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, re-appointed him as Senior



Vice President — Accounts and Finance and Key Managerial Personnel of the Company with effect from same
date,

The Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, of the
Company had appointed Mr. Rohan Mittal as Chief Financial Officer designated as Group Chief Financial
oOfficer of the Company with effect from September 23, 2022,

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 203 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. Dhruv Shringi, Whole-Time
Director cum Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Rohan Mittal, Group Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Darpan Batra,
Company Secretary, Mr. Manish Amin, Chief Information & Technology Officer and Key Managerial
Personnel and Mr. Anuj Sethi, Senior Vice President — Accounts and Finance are the Key Managerial
Personnel of the Company as.on March 31, 2023.

After the closure of the financial year, Mr. Anuj Kumar Sethi resigned from the position of Chief Financial
Officer (Key Managerial Personnel) of the Company with effect from June 19, 2023.

Declaration by Independent Directors

The Company has received declarations from.all Independent Directors of the Company confirming that they

continue to meet the criteria of independence, as prescribed under Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013,
- rules made thereunder.

Number of Board Meetings

During the period under review, 6 {Six) meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company were convened
and held.

Board Committees and Meeting thereof

In compliance with the statutory requirements, the Company has constituted committees viz. Audit
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee, Risk
Management Committee Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and Independent Director Committee.

In addition, the Company has constituted an IPO Committee.

The Composition of each of the committee of the Directors is given below:-

S. Name of the Committees Committee Composition
Nao.
1 Audit Committee e Mr. Rohit Bhasin, Independent Director

{Chairperson);

e Mr. Ajay Narayan Jha, independent Director
(Member); and

* Mr. Murlidhara Kadaba, Non-Executive Non
independent Director {Member)

2 Nomination and Remuneration |¢ Ms. Deepa Misra Harris, Independent Director

Committee (Chairperson);

¢  Mr. Rohit Bhasin, Independent Director {Member};
and

* Ms. Neelam Dhawan, Non-Executive Non -
Independent Director (Member}

3 Stakeholders” Relationship |¢ Ms. Neelam Dhawan, Non-Executive Non
Committee Independent Director (Chairperson);
+ Mr. Ajay Narayan Jha, Independent Director
(Member}; and

= Mr. Rohit Bhasin, Independent Director {Member)




4 Risk Management Committee e Mr. Murlidhara Kadaba, Mon-Executive Non
~ Independent Director (Chairperson);
s Mr. Rohit Bhasin, Independent Director (Member);

and
o  Mr, Dhruv Shringi, Whole Time Director cum CEQ
(Member).
5 Corporate Social Responsibility |« Ms. Neelam Dhawan, Non — Executive Non
Committee Independent Director (Chairperson);

s Ms. Deepa Misra. Harris, Independent Director
{Member]; and

o Mr. Dhruv Shringi, Whole Time Director cum CEO,

____{Member).

6. IPO Committee e  Mr, Dhruv Shringi, Whole Time Director cum CEO
(Chairperson)

¢ Mr. Murlidhara Kadaba, Non-Executive Director

(Member)
e Ms. Neelam Dhawan WNon-Executive Director
. (Member)
7 Independent Directors [e  Mr. Ajay Narayan Jha, Independent Director
Committee » Mr. Rohit Bhasin, Independent Director

* Ms, Deepa Misra Harris, Independent Director

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

Pursuant to Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
confirm that for the financial year ended March 31, 2023:

a. in preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been followed along
with proper explanation relating to material departures;

b. they had selected such accounting palicies and applied them consistently and made judgements and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the Company for that period; -

c. they had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

d. " they had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and

e. they had devised a proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and
such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

Particulars of Loans, Guarantees or Investments made under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013

The particulars of loans, guarantees and investments covered under the provisions of Section 186 of the
Companies Act, 2013 have been disclosed in the financial statements of the Company.

Reserves

The Company has not transferred any amount to Reserves for the financial year under review.

Material changes and commitment, if any, affecting the financial position of the Company occurred
between the end of the financial year of the Company to which the financial statements relate and the

date of the report

There were no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company between
the end of financial year and the date of this report.



The details of application made or any proceeding pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code,
2016 {31 of 2016) during the year along with their status as at the end of the financial year

In January 2022, Ezeego One Trave! and Tours Limited {“Ezeego”), being a company admitted into insolvency
filed a company petition under Section 9 of the insolvency & Bankruptcy Code, 2016 (“Code”) before
National company Law Tribunal, Mumbai (“NCLT”} seeking to initiate corporate insolvency resolution pian of
Yatra Online Limited {“Company Petition”). Ezeego filed the Company Petition pursuant to a demand notice
dated November 30, 2021 demanding payment of INR 2.15 Crores to which Yatra issued its reply dated
December 10, 2021 stating that the amount claimed by Ezeego is not in accordance with its books of
-accounts. The Company Petition was filed on the basis of a default of INR 3.15 Crores {including interest).
Yatra filed its reply to the company petition along with an application seeking rejection of the Company
Petition for being barred under Section 10A of the Code [“Application”). On March 17, 2023, the NCLT
dismissed the Application (“NCLT Order”). Yatra challenged the NCLT Order before the National Company
Law Appellate Tribunal, New Delhi {“NCLAT”}, By an order dated March-31, 2023, the NCLAT allowed
Yatra’s appeal and dismissed the Company Petition filed against Yatra {“NCLAT Order”}. Ezeego challenged
the NCLAT Order before the Supreme Court {“Civil Appeal”). By an order dated May 02, 2023, Ezeego
withdrew the Civil Appeal on account of a settlement between the parties whereby Yatra paid a sum of INR
1.6 Crores to Ezeego as full and final settlement of all outstanding dues between the parties. Accordingly,
the proceedings against Yatra under the Code stand concluded.

_ Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo

The information pertaihing to conservation of energy, technology absorption, Foreign exchange Earnings and
outgo as required under Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8(3) of the Companies
{Accounts) Rules, 2014 is furnished in Annexure | and forms part of this report.

Statement indicating development and implementation of risk management

There is a process in place to identify key risks across the group and prioritise relevant action plans to
mitigate these risks. The Company has constituted a Risk Managernent Committee to focus on risk
management including determination of company’s risk appetite, risk tolerance and regular risk assessments
(risk identification, risk quantification and risk evaluation} etc. The Company has duly approved Risk
Management Policy. The objective of this policy, as amended from time to time, is to have a well-defined
approach to risk. The policy lays down broad guidelines for timely identification, assessment, and
prioritisation of risks affecting the Company in the short term and in the foreseeable future. The policy
suggests framing an appropriate response action for the key risks identified, so as to make sure that the risks
are adequately addressed or mitigated. The Company relies upon its internal risk assessment and internal
audits conducted from time to time to take appropriate actions and strategies to address and mitigate the
risks ‘identified through such system and audits. Further, based on such risk assessment and audits, the
elements of risk threatening Company’s existence are considered to be minimal.

Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace

Your Company has zero tolerance for sexual harassment at workplace and has adopted a policy on
prevention, prohibition and redressal of sexual harassment at workplace in line with the provisions of the
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace {Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and the rules
thereunder for prevention and redressal of complaints of sexual harassment at workplace. An Internal
Complaints Committee {ICC) has also been set up at where employees can register their complaint{s} against
sexual harassment. During the financial year 2022-23, the Company has not received any such complaint.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

The provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 relating to constitution of CSR committee were
not applicable to the Company during the year under review, however, the Company has voluntary
constituted the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee, The Company was not required to make any
mandatory CSR Contribution for the year under review under Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013. The



annual report on Corporate Social Responsibility u/s 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 is annexed as Annexure
il to the Board's Report.

The terms of reference of the CSR Committee framed in accordance with Section 135 of the Companies Act,
2013, are as foliows:

* formulate and recommend to the Beard, a “Corporate Social Responsibility Policy” which shall
indicate the activities to be undertaken by the Company as specified in Schedule VIl of the
Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, as amended, monitor the implementation of
the same from time to time, and make any revisions therein as and when decided by the Board;

» identify corporate social responsibility policy partners and corporate social responsibility policy
programmes; '

¢ review and recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the activities referred to In
clause (a) and the distribution of the same to various corporate social responsibility programs

~undertaken by the Company; '

+ review and monitor the corporate social responsibility policy of the Company and issuing necessary
directions as required for proper implementation and timely completion of corporate social
responsibility programmes; and

® exercise such other powers as may be conferred upon the Corporate Social Responsibility

" Committee in terms of the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act.

» any other matter as the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee may deem appropriate after
_approval of the Board or as may be directed by the Board from time to time

Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower Policy

The Company has a Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy which has been communicated within the
organization to eliminate and help prevent malpractices, to investigate and resolve complaints, to. take
appropriate action to safeguard the interests of the Company, and to ensure that the whistleblower is
protected. The Whistle Blower Policy is available on the website of the Company at
_ https://investors.vatra.com/Investor-Relations-India/default.aspx.

Nomination and Remuneration Policy

in terms of the requirement of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of Directors has adopted a
“Nomination and Remuneration Policy Including the Board Evaluation Mechanism” on appointment and
remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel & Senior Management. The Policy includes, inter-alia,
criteria for appointment of Directors, KMPs, Senior Management Personnel and other covered employees,
their remuneration structure and disclosures in relation thereto. The Company's Nomination and
Remuneration Policy is available at the website of the Company at https://investors.yatra.com/Investor-

Relations-India/default.aspx.

Significant and Material Orders

During the financial year 2022-23, there were no significant and material orders passed by the regulators or
courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status and the Company’s operations in the future,

Adequacy of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements of the Company
pursuant to rule 8(5) {viii) of Companies {accounts) Rules, 2014

The Company has in place proper and adequate internal financial control system, commensurate with the
.size of its business operations, which is constantly assessed and strengthened with new/revised standard
operating procedures (SOP} and time bound action plans to improve efficiency at all levels.

During the year, except as reported by the statutory auditors in the Auditors” Report on Standalone and
Consolidated Financial Statements, no other reportable weakness in the operations and accounting



procedures were observed. Barring the above, adequate internal financial controls with reference to its
financial statements are ensured by the Company.

Maintenance of cost records

The Company is not required to maintain any cost records as specified by the Central Government under
Sub-Section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties referred to in section 188(1) of the
Companies Act, 2013

All the transactions/contracts/arrangements of the nature as specified in Section 188{1)} of the Companies
Act, 2013 entered into by the Company during the year under review with related party (/ies) are not
material and are in the ordinary course of business and on arms’ iength basis.

Deposits from Public

The Company has not accepted any deposits from public and, as such, no amount of principal or interest was
outstanding as on the balance sheet closure date.

-‘Annual Return

In terms of Section 92(3) read with Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules thereto, the
Annual Return of the Company in Form MGT - 7 for the financial year ended on as on March 31, 2023 in
accordance with Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies {Management and
Administration} Pules, 2014, is available on the Company’s website at htips://investors.yatra.com/Investar-
Relations-India/default.aspx.

Details of Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associate Companies and their performance and contribution
to the overall performance of the Company

As defined under the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has 8 subsidiaries and 1 joint venture. Further, the
Company does not have any associate company.

During the year under review, Yatra Middle East L.L.C.-FZ was incorporated as Wholly Owned Subsidiary of
the Company. None of the subsidiaries of the Company has ceased during the year.

Further, according to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 2013, the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries and joint ventures are prepared in accordance with the relevant indian
Accounting Standard specified under the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules thereunder and form part of
this report.

The details of the financial performance of Subsidiary/ Joint Venture Company are furnished in Form AOC 1
as Annexure Il and forms part of this report.

Certificate on status of compliance with Foreign Exchange Management Act (FEMA) provisions

As per the provisions of the Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person
Resident Outside India) Regulations, 2017, the Company has obtained a certificate from the Statutory
Auditors of the Company as regards the status of compliance with the instructions on downstream
investment and compliance with the FEMA provisions. As per the certificate from the statutory auditors, the
Company is in compliance with the applicable regulations as regards downstream investment and other
.related FEMA pravisians.



' _ Compliance of Secretarial Standards

The Company has adhered to the applicable Secretarial Standards with respect to meetings of the Board of
Directors {$5-1) and General meetings {(55-2) issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India.
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Annexure I}

Annual Report on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities

1) Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company- We, at Yatra Online Limited, understand that being part of
this society, it is our moral responsibility to aid and serve the society to the maximum possible extent. Our
efforts for the hetterment of the Society are guided by following principles: 1, Living up to our
responsibilities towards society, by being an economic, intellectual and social asset for the communities
with which we interact. 2, Working in harmony with the environment and society and making our share of
welfare to the society.

2) Composition of CSR Committee:

Number of .
. Number of meetings
. . meetings
Name of | Designation / Nature of of -CSR
Sl No.| | . ) of CSR .
Director Directorship — | Commitiee attended

Committee held
R during the year
during the year

Ms Neelamn Non - Executive Non

1. ) Independent  Director- | Nil Not Applicable
Dhawan .

Chairman

Ms. Deepa Misra Independent Director- |, .

2.
Harris Member- Nit Not Applicable
Mr. Dhruv Whole Time Director cum

3. - - i i
Shringi CEO- Member il lNOt Applicable

3) Provide the web-link where Composition of CSR Committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by
‘the board are disclosed on the website of the company.

httpsﬂ/investorﬂatra.coni/lnvestor-ReIations-lndia/default.asgx

4) Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects carried out
in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable- Not Applicable

s)
{a) Average net profit of the company as per section 135(5}- INR (3797.37} Lacs
{b) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) : (358.01} Lacs
_ _ Registered Office: Corporatz Offives
yatra Oniine Limited

{Formanly koown a5
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el FLALYEES -G

KA AT G I

PRt Bo, 272, U S0



S i IoReg 4

{c) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial years: Nil

{d} Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any: Nil
(e) Total CSR obligation for the financial year (7b+7c-7d): Nil

5) (a) CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year: Not Applicable, the Company was not required to

spent any amount in this respect.

{b} Details of CSR amount spent against ongoing projects for the financial year: Not Applicable

(c) Details of CSR amount spent against other than ongoing projects for the financial year: Not Applicable

{d) Amount spent in Administrative overheads : Nil

(e} Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: Not Applicable

(f) Total amount spent for the Financial Year {8b+8c+8d+8e): Not Applicable

{g) Excess amount for set off, if any: Not Applicable

-a) Details of Unspent CSR amount for the preceding three financial years: Nil

7) Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount

spent in the Financial Year: No

8) Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as

per section 135(S). Not Applicable

For and on behalf of Board of Directors

Yatra Online Limited

(Formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

Place: ¢ rugram

Date: September 08, 2023 DIN: 00334986

Whole-time Director cum CEQ
Address: C-84,

Inder Puri,
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Chairman-CSR Committee
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1, Gurgaon Haryana 122002,
India
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

i'o the Members of Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Report on the Audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS Thancial statemients of Yatra Online Limited
(formerly known as Yatra Ontine Private Limited) ("the Company ™). which comprise the Balance sheet
as at March 31 2023, the Statement of Prolit and Loss, tncluding the stalement of Other Comprehensive
[ncome, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of” Changes in Fyuity for the year then ended, and
notes 1o the standalone Ind AS financial statements. including a summary of significant aceounting
policies and other explanatory information.

I our opinion and to the best of our information and according o the explanations given 1o us. the
aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Companics Act.
2013, as amended (“the Act™) i the manner so required und give a true and fair view in conformity
with the accounting principies generally aceepled in India. of the state of affairs of the Company as at
Murch 31, 2023, 1ts profit including other comprehensive income. its cash lows and the changes in
equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We condueted our audit of the standalone Ind AS Tinancial stalements in accordance with the Standards
on Auditing {SAs). as specified under section 143100 of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards are further deseribed in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit ol the standalone Tnd
AS Financial Statements” section ol our reporl. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the “Code of Ethies™ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical
requirements that are refevant to our audit of the standalone Ind AS linancial stalements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules therewnder, and we have fulttiled our other ethical responsibilitics
in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the andit evidence we
have obtained Is sulficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis For our audit opinion on the standalone
Ind AS Nnancial statements.

Other Information

The Company’s Board ol Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information mneluded in the Dhireetor’s repart but does not inelude the standalone Ind AS
Imancial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Ouar apinion on the standalone Ind AS Financial statements does nol cover the other information and we
do not expiess any forin of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone Ind AS (nancial statements, our responsibility is 10 read
the other information and. in doing so. consider whether such other information is materially
inconsistent with the standalone Ind AS financial statements or our knowledge obtamed in the andit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstaled.

nothing to report in this repard,
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Responsibility of Management for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

Ihe Company™s Board of Directors 1s responsible Tor the matters stated i section 1343} ol the Act
with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair
view ol'the Tinancial position, linancial performance including other comprehensive income. cash flows
and changes in equity of the Company in accordanee with the accounting principles generally accepted
it India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specilted under section 133 of the Act
read with the Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules. 2015, as amended. [his responsibility
also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act
for sulepuarding ol the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularitios: selection and application of appropriate accounting policies: making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent: and the design. implementation and maintenance ol adequale
internal tinancial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness
ol'the accounting records. relevant o the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial
statements that give a (rue and 1air view and are [ree from material misstatement, whether due to lraud
Or CITOr.

ln preparing the standalone tnd AS financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. disclosing. as applicable. matiers related (0 going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unicss management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsibic lor overseeing the Company s financial reporting process,
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone [nd AS Financial Statements

Our objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalome Ind AS [inancial
statements as a whole are Iree from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or ervor. and 1o issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ol assurance but is
not a guarantee that an avdit conducted in accordance with SAs will alwavs delect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatcements can arise from [raud or error and are considered material if,
mdividually ar in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic deeisions
ol users taken on the basix of these standalone Ind AS financial statements.

Ax parl of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise prolessional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o ldentify and assess the rishs of material misstatement of the standalone Ind AS Hinancial statements,
whetier due to fraud or error. design and perform audit procedures responsive to those rishs, and
obtain audit evidence that is sulficient and appropriate to provide a basis tor our opinion. Fhe risk
ol not detecting a material misstatement resulting irom fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error. as Traud may involve colluston. forgery, intentional omissions. misrepresentations, or the
overvide ol internal contral,

»  Obtain an understanding ol internal control relevant to the audit in order o design audit procedures
that arc appropriate in the circamstances. Under section 143(3)(0) of the Act. we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
controls with relerence o standalone Ind AS financial statements in place and the operating
eifectiveness ol such controls.

»  braluate the approprisieness of accounting policies used ad the reasanableness ol accotnting
estimales and related disclosures made by munagement.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis ol accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 10 continue as g
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concern. we conclude that a waterial uncertainty exists, we are required to dras altention in our
auditor’s report w the related disclosures in the standalone Ind AS financial statements or, if stich
disclosures are inadequate. (o medity our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the aundit evidence
obtained up 1o the date of owr auditor’s report. However. future events or conditions may cause the
Company (o cease 10 continue as a going concern,

s Fvaluate the overall presentation. structwre and content ol the standalone Ind AS {inancial
statements, including the disclosures. and whether the standalone [nd AS financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves lair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding. among other matters. the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit Tindings. inciuding any signilicant deliciencies in
internal controd that we identily during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to caommunicate with them all relationships and other
maiters that max reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, relaled
salepuards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

I Asrequired by the Companies { Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Qrder™), fssued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (1) of section 143 of the Act. we give in the
“Annexure 17 a statement on the matiers specified in parapraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. Asrequired by Section 143¢3) of the Act, we report that:

fa) We have sought and oblained all the information and cxplanations which o the best of our
ko ledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(h) Tn our opinion, proper books ol account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from owr examination ol those bouks:

{¢) The Balance Sheet the Statement of Profit and Loss ineluding the Statcment of Other
Comprehensive Income. the Cash Flow Statement and Statement ol Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are i agreement with the books of account;

(d) In our opinion. the atoresaid standalone Ind AN financial statements comply with the
Accounting Standards specitied under Section 133 of the Act. read with Companies {Indian
Accounting Standards) Rules. 20150 as amended specitied under section 133 of the Act:

fed On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2023
tahen on record by the Board of Dircctors, none of the directors is disqualitied as on
Mareh 31 2023 from being appointed as a dircctor In terms of Seetion 164 {2) of the Acl:

(1 With respect to the adegoacy of the internal financial controls with reference 10 these standalone
Ind AS financial statements and the operating effectiveness ol such controls, reler W our
separate Report in “Annexure 27 Lo this report

(g} The provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V ol the Act are not applicabile (o the
Company for the year ended March 31, 2023;

{hy With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordanee with
Rule 'l of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion an
the best ol our information and according (0 the explanaiions given to us:
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{xi}

{xii)

i xiii}

{51y

{xv)

{avi)

(1Y he Company has nol raised loans during the vear on the pledpe ol seeurities held in its
subsidiavies, joint ventures or assoeciate conpanies. Henee. the reguirement o report on clause
(1)) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(1) The Company has not raised any money during, the vear by way ol initial public ofter / further
public offer (including debt instruments) henee. the requirement 1o report on clause 3(x)a) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company.

(by I'he Company has not made any preferential alfotment vr private placement ol shares /tully or
partially or optionally convertible debentures during the vear under audit and hence. the
requirement to report on clause 3{h) of the Order is not applicabiv to the Company.

() No fraud/ material fraud by the Company or no fraud / material fraud on the Company has been
noticed or reporled during the year.

{b) During the year, no report under sub-section {12} of section 143 of the Companies Act. 2013
has been tiled by us in Form ADT - 4 as preseribed under Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and
Aunditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Governiment.

{c) As represeried to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the vear,

The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provision of the Companies Act. 2013, Therelore.
the regquirement to report on clause (siija) Jrxiikb) and 3oaan(e) ol the Order are nol applicable
to the Company.

Transactions with the related paitics are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of Companies
Act. 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes o the tinancial
slatentents. as required by the applicable accounting standards.

{a} the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature ol its business
tnder Section 138 of the Companies Act. 2013,

by The internal audit reports of the Company issued tli the date of the audit report, Tor the period
under gudil have been considered by us.

[ he Company has not entered nto any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected
with its directors and hence requirement o report on clause 3(av) ot the Order is not applicable to
the Company.

tay I he provisions of section 45-1A of the Keserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934} dre not
applicable ta the Company. Accordingly. the requirement o report on clause (avida) ol the Order
is not applicable to the Company .

(b} The Company is not engaged in any Nen-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities.
Accordingly. the requirement o report on clause (xvi}h) of the Order s not applicable o the
Company.
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Annexure 2: To the Independent Auditor’s report of ceven date on the Standalone Ind AS
Financial statements of Yatra Online Limited (formerly kizown as Yatra Online Private Limited)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i} of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companics Act, 2013 (*the Act™)

We have andited the mternal tnancial controls with relerence to standalone Ind AS financial statements
of Yatra Online Limiled (formerly hnown as Yatra Online Private Limited) {"the Company™) as of
Marcii 31, 2023, in conjunction with our audit of the standalone Ind AS Gnancial statements of the
Company lor the vear ended on that date.

Management's Responsibility lor Internal Financial Controls

I'he Company s management is responsible [or establishing and maintaining internal lnancial controls
based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering
the essential compaonents of internal control stated in the Guidanee Note on Audit ol Internal Financial
Contrals Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAL).
Ihese responsibilities include the design. implementation and maintenance of adeguate internal
{nancial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efTicient conduet of its
business. including adherence to the Company™s policies. the satcguarding of its assets. the prevention
and deteetion of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness ot the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information. as required under the Companies Act, 2013,

Auditor’s Responsihility

Our responsibility is o express an opimion on the Company s internal (inancial controls with reterence
1o these standalone Ind AS financial statements hased on our audit. We conducted our audil in
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit ol Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting,
{the ~Guidance Note™ ) and the Standards on Auditing, as specified under section 143¢10) of the Act. to
the extent applicable w an audit of internal linanctal controls. both issucd by [CAL Those Standards
and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasunable assurance about whether adequate intermal financial controls with reterence to these
standalone Ind AS financial statements was established and maintained and il such controls operated
effectively in all material respects.

An audit invalves perfomming procedures w abtain asdit evidence about the adeguacy of the mternal
financtal controls with reference 1o Ind AS financtal statements and their operating etfectis eness. Our
audit of internal financial controls with reference to Ind AS Tinancial statements ingluded obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls with reference to these standalene hiud AS lnancial
stalements. assessing the risk that wmaterial weakoess extsts, and 1esting and evaloating the design and
vperating cilectiveness of iernal control based vn the assessed rish. The procedures seleeted depend
on the auditor’s Judgement. including the assessment ol the risks of material misstitement of’ the
finaneial statements. whether due to traud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we iave obtained 1s sullicient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with relerence to these
standalone Ind AS financial statements,
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Standalone Ind AS Financial
Statements

A Company's internal Tinancial controls with reference 1o standalone ind AS financial statements s a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements Tor external purposes in accordance with generally aceepted
accounting principles. A company's inlernal financial control with reference to Ind AS Tinancial
statements ineludes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain o the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and lairly reflect the wransactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company: (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of Mnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. and
that receipts and expenditures ot the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations
of management and directors of the company: and (3) provide reasonable assurance reparding
prevention or timely deteetion of wnauthorised acquisition. use, or disposition of the company's assets
that could have a material effect on the [mancial statements.

Inherent Limitations of laternal Financial Controls With Reflerence to Ind AS Finaneial
Statements

Because of the inherent limitations ot internal tinancial coutrals with relerence to Ind AS financial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override ol controls. material
misstatements duc to crror or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also. projections ol any evaluation
of the internal financial controls with reference to Ind AS [tnancial statements (e luture periods are
subject to the risk that the internal lmancial control with reference to Ind AS financial statements may
become madequate because of changes i conditions. or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Qualified Opinion

According o the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit. the following material
weahness has been identilied in the operating effectiveness of the Company s internal {Inancial controls
wilh reference o Ind AS financial statements as at March 31, 2023:

The Company’s internal linancial controls over financial reporting was nol operating eflectively due to
non-retention  of  documents  supporting  cerlain controls o demonstrate  conteniporancons
performance of such controfs,

A material weakness” is a deticieney. or a combination of deliciencies, in internal financial control
with reference W Ind AS financiaf statements. such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the company's annual or mterim nancial statements will not be prevented ar detected
on atimeh basis.

In our apinion. except for the possible effcets ol the nuaterial weakness desceribed above on the
achievement ol the objectives of the conlrol eriteria. the Company has maintained. in all material
respects, adequate internal linancial controls with reference to these standalone Ind AS lNinancial
stalerments and such internal linancial controls with reference to financial statements were operating
effectively as ol March 31, 2023, based on the internal control over [nancial reporting crileria
established by ihe Company considering (he essential components ol internal control stated i the
Guidanee Note issued by the [CAL










Yatra Gnline Limited
{formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Amounts in lakhs of Indian Rupees, except per share data and number of shares)

Particulars Notes March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Income

Revenue from gperations 21 25,836 13,985
Other income 22 968 058
Total income : 26,804 14,943
Expenses

Service cost 6,246 1,465
Employee benefit expenses 23 6,393 5,935
Marketing and sales promotion expenses 3,291 1,186
Deprectation and amortisation 24 1,610 2514
Finance costs 25 1,505 913
Other expenses , 26 7,812 5425
Listing and related expenses e 236 558
Total expenses 27.093 17,996
Loss before exceptional items and tax (289) (3,053)
Exceptional items 42 10 727
Loss before taxes (299) {3,780)
Tax expense

Current tax - -
Deferred tax - -
Loss for the year (299) {3,780}

Other comprehensive income
Irems not to be reclassified to profit or loss ¢

Re-measurement loss/(gain) on defined benefit plans 24 {6}
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxes 24 (6}
Total comprehensive loss for the year (323) (3,774)
Loss per share of face value INR 1/- each 34

Basic 0.27) 3.39
Diluted 0.27 (3.3
Summary of significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these standalone financial statements.

As per our reporl of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLFP For and on behaf of the Board of Directors
IC Al Firm Rocistration No,: 101049W/E300004 Yatra Online Limited
ountants (formacly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

f'/“' \ A\ R
oShotai ¢ \ MuHidhara Kadaba

seth
oie Time Direméum CEO  Chairman and Director
v 094524 (DIN: 00334986) {DIN:01435701)
Place: Gurugram [ D
Date: August 29, 2023 Chief Financial Officer C
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Opening batance
. i ) , Cash fiows .. [Closing balance as at
Particulars ﬁzl‘;;; April 1, (net) Vehicles loans taken March 31,2023
N current burmoswings " eunent mataritivs) 37 RN 20 3177
Current borrowings 1,499 3.492] E 4,991
Total liabilities from financing sctivities 1,535 6,429{ 203 8,168
Gpuening halance .
Particulars as at April 1, Cash flows Vehicles loans taken® Clusing balance 25 at
2021 {net) Mareh 31, 2022
Non current borrawings (including currenl maturities) 59 (480} 13 37
Current borrowings 763 el | 1,499
Total Isbilities [rom financing sctivities 822 697 1 1,536

*[n the statement of cash flows, proceeds trom vehicle loan of INR 203 (March 31, 2022: 18) has been adjusied against purchase ol property, plant and equipment, i.e., these

are nor cash transactions from the Company’s perspective.

As per gur report of even date
For 5.1 Batliboi & Associates LLP

Toer e n ot tion Ne.: 101049W/E300004
nts

324

Place: Gurugram
Date: August 29, 2023

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Yatra Online Limited

{for
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iy known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

Murlidhara Kadaba

Zum CEQ Chairman and Director

Chet Fmancial Othicer
(PAN: ASOPMO9TSM)

(DIN:0 143570
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S.R. BATLIBOtL & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartergd Accountants

vi.  Asproviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rutes, 2014 is applicable only w.e.f. April
1. 2023 for the tiolding Company. its subsidiartes and joint venture company incorporated in
India. hence reporting under this clause is not applicable,

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
dration Number: ) 01349W/E300004

eth
Membership Number: (094524
UDIN: 230943524BGYICP1958

Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: Aupust 29, 2023




S.R BAT1iBOI1 & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

Annexure | referred fo in paragraph 1 of the section on “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Reguircments™ of onr report of even date

Re: Yatra Online Limited (Formerls known as Yatra Online Private Limited) (“the Company™)

Qualifications or adverse remarks by ihe respective auditors in the Companies {Auditors Report) Order
(CARO) reports of the companies included in the consolidated linancial statements:

5 | Name CIN Holding Clause numher
No. Company / of the CARO
Subsidiary report whieh is
Company qualitied or is
adverse
I. | Yatra Online Limited (Formerly Li63040MIT200 Holding ii(b), vii(a)
known as Yatra Online Private SPLCI58404 Company
Limited}
2. | Yatra For Business Private Limited U72900DL1962 | Subsidiary ii(b), vii(a)
PTC003735 Company
3 Yatra totel Soiutions Private Limited | U45030DL1996 [ Subsidiary vii(a}
PTCO76431 Company
1 Yatra TG Stays Private Limited U63040MH200 |  Subsidiary vii(a)
SPTC257748 Company
5 Yatra Corporate lHotel  Solutions | U63040MH200 | Subsidiary vii(a)
Private Limited 4PTC217231 Company
6 T TSI Yatra Private Limited US5101HR2008 | Subsidiary vii(a)
PTC038256 Company
7 Yatra Ouline Freighl Services Private | U63030HR2020 | Subsidiary vii(a)
Limited PTCO88120 Company

For 8.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Charlered Accountanis
AT Bl Deajetpation Number; 101049W/E300004

Seth

Membership Number: 094524
LUDIN: 23094524BGYICP 1958

Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: August 29, 2023










SR BATLIBGI & ASSOCIATES 11LP

Charlered Accounlants

Other Maiters

Ouy report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal
financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates to two subsidiaries
(Yatra Online Freight Services Private Limited and Travel.Co.in Limited), which are companies incorporated
in India, is based on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India.

We also have audited. in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by the ICAL the consolidated
financial slatements ol the Holding Company, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Shect as at March
31, 2023, and the Consolidated Statcment of Profit and Loss, including other comprehensive income, the
consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the vear then
ended. and notcs to the consolidated financial statements. including a summary of signilicant accounting
policies and other explanatory information. This naterial weakness was considered in determining the nature,
timing. and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the March 31, 2023 consolidated inancial statements
of the Holding Comnpany and this report does not alfect our repoit dated August 29. 2023, which expressed
an unmoditied opinion.

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLLP
Chartered Accountants
ration Number: 101 049W/E300004

L] L~ - _lh
Partner
Membership Number: 094524

LIDIN: 23094524BGYICPI958

Placc of Signature: Gurugram
Date: August 29, 2023



Watrd Online Limlted (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Cansolldated Balon e Sheet as at March 31, 2023
{Amueun in lakhs, except per chare data and nuwber of sharesy

Mole Mureh M, 2023 March 31, 2022
ASSETS
Mon-cacrenl Assetn
Property, plant and exuipment -1 458 19
Right-of-use asscls 43 2,009 2,298
Goodwill [ 8912 6912
Chher intangible assets A 2,085 LA
Intangible assels under dovelopimenl & 423 a4
Fmnancial agscts
Loans 8 - -
Crther bemk balanees 9 &2 -
DOther Financind assets ] 478 479
(hher non-current assels 11 1.5967 2.14%
Dielzrred (ax asset 13 a7 96
Locotme L Assels {ner) 3,015 1,965
Totul guvn-urrent nsses 17.513 16,320
Current Asdrts
Conract Assety 12 1,906 !
Financial Assers
Loans 8 34 1]
Trade reeeivables 13 28,754 19,403
Cash antd cash equivalents 14 4,690 7.586
Ohber bank balances ' 9 5,537 5211
Other financial ausets 1] 636 677
Orther curmeni mssets 1 3993 5,552
Total gurrent assets 50,590 38458
Tatnl assers 58,125 H.IT8
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES |
Equlty
Equity Bhnre Capital 15 1,145 L119
Orther Equity
Sequrities premium - 163,737 157,562
Remined eamings ' {13169 ° {154,827
Deemed capital conribution by uktimate holding compeny 6,233 6218
Totul equiry 16,952 10,093
Men-current Mabflitles
Finamcinl Vinbilities
Bemrowings ! 16 2,400 a2
Trade Payables
« loul outstanding dues ol creditary pther than micro enterprises and sinal? 17 N 426
enlenwike
(nher financa ligkilitics
Lease liabilities 43 2,034 2,307
Other Grumeial Jabilites 1] - -
Frovisioas 19 408 338
Deferred tax liahiliry 18 7l 113
Defemred revenue 0 + 850
Totml nan-current tinhllities 4,913 38T
Current Uoblllties
Finaacial lahilitics
Bomowings 16 12,908 3,54
Trade payables
- toln] etnstanding dues of micre eplerprises and small entevprises 17 96 H
- wiel putslanding dues of credilors othes micr eoterprises and simall :
eoleprises "7 13,755 L4673
Lense: linkilinies 3 478 339
Qiher financial Linbilities 1% 11,513 12,600
Provisions 19 559 1]
Deterred revinne 20 457 1,832
Dither enrrent Labylities 21 6,}69 029
Curren (ax hubitities 325 10
Toul current llaldtitles 46260 40,807
Total labililies SL1713 44,685
Twlal equity aod llabllitles 58,135 54,778
Swwmury of sigmificant accounting policies 2

d fmancial

The accompanying noles form an mtegrat pant of these

For and on behaif of ghe Beard of Directors

erly known 35 Yatra Onlige Privaie Limited)

A Ao

Bhruv Shring numflhar~ Weibnbn
Whake Time Pirecier cum CEG Chai an
4 (BN
Bran
Oflicer Comapany

{PAM: ASDPMIFTEMY {Membersinp Nao, 1A



Yarro Online Lmited (fermerdy known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Consolidated Siatement of Profli and Eass for ihe year ended varch 31, 1023
fAmount in lokhs. except per share data nnd vumber of shares)

Invore

Revenue froin operations
Qiber mecome

Total income

Expenses
Eervice cox
Employee benefir xpenscs

Sdarkeming and sales p !
Depreciation and i
Finance cosis

Other cxpenses

Listing and related cxpenses
Tolal expeases

Year endad ¥Moseh 31,

Profic/(Lass) Feum operations before share of loas of [nint venture, cxceptional Itemns and 421

Share of loss from joml venture

ProfitilLoss) beforr exceptimal étem and mx

Exceptimnal Hewma
Proditi{ Less) before lox

Tax expease
Cwrent [x expanse
Drferred lan (benelil)fiexpense

Profit/(Loxs} for the year
Diher Comprebenslye Incotme

Toesns that will nod Le ceclessified subsequently to proflt or Ioes
Remeasureroent Iows! (pain} oo defined benell plan

loeame 12x expenses (gain} related fo flems that will 0ot be reclassified theough mofit ac lois
Oiber comprehensive inpome for the yvear, net of income mx
Total comprebeasive Income/(Loss) for th year

EamitigH{Luss) per shinre of foce valur IMR | eack attributable to equity holders of the

parent
Hpste Enningsd daas) por share
Diluted Earmnpa’{loss) per share

Sunmnaty of signifean] accounting poticies
The srcampanying rioles form an iilegral par of vhese

As ger our repor of even dawe

e e e e s LLP

n No,: 100049 W/EID D0

L

Flact ~
Dale

Hole 023 1012
12 8016 19,807
3 L731 1074
W 21,681
6,446 1521
24 10,901 3761
3364 124)
15 1,418 2308
6 2,341 w5
7 13,403 7613
46 236 558
38519 22457
1,228 (L516)
] . A6
1.228 (1,200)
M 10 27
1,218 .92
8
507 132
(52 0,
455 152
. 763 Qa0
" 103 4
1 .
104 i
©9 (3,083]
k1l
0.69 {2.76)
0.69 {2.76)
H

For and oa hehali of 1be Banrd of Directors

Dhray Shringl
Whole Time Director cum CEO

st AAAA sme e

Chief Fignrciol Dfficer
PAN: ASOPMPOTEN]

Limited \{formerly known a5 Yatra Online Private Limlied)

ot noddb

Murlidbars Kadaba
Chainnag end Director

{

Deryan Batry
Company Scrrelary
{Membesship No. :ACEL5719)



Yarew Oaling Limited {farmerly known as Yarra Onlive Privote Limlted)
Cansalldaved Staterneat of Cash Flows Tor (e year ended Murch 31, 2023
(A mount [ lakhx, except per shore duta ond numbes of shares)

Cush (lows from operating activithes
Profit/(loss) before lax
Adfustmenty tn reconclle foss before tas to aet cosh Rows:
Deprtiation und amortisalion
Finance income
Finance costs
Unrealized foreipm cachange gain
Gainon salc of properry, plant and squipinent (neg)
Gain oo trrmmation/ rent concession of leases
Unwioling of deferred consideration
Linbiity po longer required 1o be paid
Provision {act) oy doubiful dcbis and advances
Share based pryment cxpense
Isparment of toan Lo jaini veature
Share of loss'(gain) of joiot venmure
Opernting vash flow befare changes in warking capiinl;
Changes lo working capltal
(lncrease) m contmet assgis
{Incrense) ih made receivabiles
Increase in trade pavables
{Decease} i povisions
{Decrease) in other financial and non-financial Liabitities
1! In puher fi ial and non-f il assets
Net cosh ysed [n operatlonx before tax
{Payiment) / Refund of mxes {dcty
et cash wsed i operating mcrlvities {2}

Cash Mows from lovesiing nctiviijes:
Purchase ol properry, plant and equipmen *

+  Pracesds from sale of propemry, plant and equipment
Purchyse/l p of inftanpibde assets
Iovesmment in lerim depositg
Proceeds frun term deposils |
Interess peceived

Met cash weed In bavestlop aclivities (b) .,

Caosh flows from firapeing actlvities:
Procceds frot sssue of equity shares
Paymunt of principal portion of leass Liabilities
Faytenl of interest portion of lcage linbilitits
Paymrau of sharebased payment
Proverds from factonng
Repayment of ficloring proceeds
P Is of isgsue of deb
Repayment of debrtenturs
Repayment of borrew ings
Tnterest paid op borrowings
Nei eash geserated from Avoncing acilvities {£)

et decrease in cush and eash equivalenn durng ihe period (o+brc)

Effecl of cxchange differences on cach and cash equivalents
Add; Cash and cash equivalents ot the begioning of the period
Cash ond cash tquivateats at the end of the year

Companeots of cash and cash equivalents;
Cagh ot hand
Balances with banks
-Cn curvem accouals
-0n EBFC geeounts
Depasits with original maturity af less than 3 manths
Credit card collections in hand

Tota) cash and cash equivalenis

Summary of significant sccounting policies frefer nole 21

25
23
6
23

Year ended March 31,

2823 1013
1248 {2,927
1,828 1,308
(204) (522)
1,825 305
117 1723
(39 (i3
{18) (3140)
7 -
(1690} {1,243}
1539 25
1,930
] 7
- f416)
1,666 [
(1,905) §
{In823) {9.834)
2414 4,640
{161) “3)
{4,000) (3,355)
{3234} (240}
(14,042} {8.83T)
{1,266) 300
(15.308) (8337}
| {198) (114}
B 97 i
(1344) {8901
15.002) (5.969)
Pooams 5809
' 65 207
. (L6ET) {846}
£.201 527
{409) [£5)]
r {3611 1436)
{2.128) {651}
18,260 5532
30,870 {3,259
3,454 .
{323} -
{10 {49)
(945) 47
13,842 1,008
(3,130 (1,175)
236 2
7,586 14719
4,689 7.586
1 2
2,500 1,604
108 a2
. 1,860
2,073 1,678
1,690 7,586




Yaira Online Limhed {farmedy koowm os Yoiro Oodlne Privode Limited)
Consclidnied Starementt of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2003
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Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Naotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Amount in lakhs, except per share data and number of shares)

1. Corporate [rformation

Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited) (the “Parent Company') was incorporated
on December 28, 2005. Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Privale Limited) together with its
subsidiaries is hereinafier referred to as the ‘Company’ or the 'Group' is engaged in the business of providing
reservation and booking services refating to transpont, trave, tours and tourism and developing customized solutions
in the areas of transport, travel, tours and tourism for all types of travelers in India or abroad through the internet,
mabile, call-centre and retail lounges.

The Company is a limited company incarporated and domiciled in India and has its registered office at B2/10/[,ist
Floor Marathon Innova, Marathon Nextgen Complex B Wing G.Kadam Marg Opp. Peninsula Corp Park Lower
Parel (W) Mumbai - 400013,

On November 11, 2021, the Registrar of Companies, Maharashtra, has accorded their approval to change the name
of the Company from Yatra Online Private Limited to Yatra Online Limited and granted it status of public company
as per the Companies Act, 2013,

The consolidated financial statements are approved for issue by the Board of Directors on August 29, 2023,

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared to comply in all material respects with the Indian Accounting
Standard ('Ind AS") notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. read together with Rule 3 of the
Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time and presentation requirements
of Division IT of Schedule TII to the Companies Act, 2013, as applicable to the consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies, as set out in the following paragraphs of this note, bave been consistenily applied by the
Group, to all the periods presented in the said consolidated financial statements except in relation 1o new standards
adopted on April 1, 2022 (refer note 2.4},

The preparation of the said consolidated financial statements require the use of certain critical accounting estimates
and judgments. It also requires the management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas where estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, or areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.

All the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements are reported in lakhs of Indian Rupees and are
rounded to the nearest lakhs, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

2.2 Basis of preparation- Going concern

The Group bas accumulated losses aggregating to INR 1,54,169 as at year end as against paid up capital and reserve
of INR 16,253 profit for the year amounting to INR 659 indicaling an uncertainty to continite as a going concern.

The Group, basis its business plan and support letter from its parent Company does not consider an uncertainty in
meeting its obligations in next twelve months. Accordingly, these consolidaied financial statements have been
prepared on going concern basis.




Yatra Online Limited (formerly knowu as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
{Amount in lakhs, except per share data end number of shares)

2.3 New standards and amendments adopted by the Group

The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2022. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued bui is not yet effective,

(i) Ind AS 16: Property Plant and Equipment

The amendment clarifies that excess of net sale proceeds of items produced over the cost of testing, if any, shall not
be recognized in the profit or loss but deducted from the directly attributable costs considered as part of cost of an
item of propery, plant, and equipment. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods
beginning on or after April 1, 2022, These amendments had no impact on the consolidated finaneial statements of
the Group.

(il) Ind AS 37 : Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

The amendments ta IND AS 37 specify which cosls a company needs to inglude when assessing whether a contract
is onerous or joss malkdng. The amendments apply a "directly related cost approach®. The costs that directly relate to
a contract 10 provide goods or services include both incremental cost for example, direct labour and materials and an
allocation of other eosts that relate directly to contract activities — for example, an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property plant and equipment used in fulfilling that contract. General and administrative costs
do not relate direcily to a coniract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after April 1,
2022, These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financiai statements of the Group.

(iii) Reference to Coneeptual Framework: Amendments to IND AS 143

The amendments replaced the reference 10 the ICAI "Framework for Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with Indian Accounting Standards” with the reference to the "Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporiing under Indian Accounting Standards (Conceptual Framework)", without significantly changing its
requirements.

The amendmenis have also added an exception to the recognition principle of IND AS 103 Business Combination to
avoid the issue of potential "day 2' gains or losses arising for liabilities that would be within the scope of IND AS 37
Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent asseis, or Appendix C, Levies, of IND AS 37, ifincurred
separately.

The arnendments also add a new paragraph to Ind AS 103 to clarify that contingent assels do not qualify for

recognition at the acquisition date. The effeclive date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on
or after April 1, 2022, These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

(iv) Ind AS 109 - Financial Instruments:

The emendment clarifies that, and entity includes when assessing whether the terms of new or modified financial
{iability are substantiaily different from the terms of the original financial liability, These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other's behalf. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or
after April I, 2022. The Group has evaluated the amendment and this amendment has no impact on the financial
statements of the group.




Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Notes to the consolidated financia] statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
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2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as disclosed in Note 39
comprise the financial statemenis of the Parent Company, its subsidiarics and joint venture.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control cxists when the parent has power over the entity, is
exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns by using its power over the entity. Power is demonstrated through existing rights thal give the ability to
direct relevant activities, those which significantly affect the entity's returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial
statements of subsidiary to bring their accounting policies and accounting period in line with those used by the
Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses and cash flows are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. Non-
controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiary are identified separately from the Group's equity
therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the business combination and
the non-controlling interesis' share of changes in equity since that date.

Profit or loss and each component of ather comprehensive income/ loss (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controiling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. '

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a change of contro, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

Joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually apreed sharing of contral of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control. The considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries,

The Group's investment in its joint venture is accounted for using the equity methad. Under the equity method, the
investment in the joint venture is initially recognized 2t cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to
recognize changes in the Group's share of net assets of the joint venture since the aequisition date. The eonsolidated

statement of Profit ar Loss {including other comprehensive Income) reflects the Group's share of the results of
operations of the joint venture.

In addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group
recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of Changes in Equity.
Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to
the extent of the interest in the joint venture,

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporling period as the Group.

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint
venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group caiculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognizes the ioss as ‘Share of
loss of a joint venture in the consclidated statement of Profit or Loss and {including other comprehensive Income).
When the Group's share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture fwhich




Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)

Notes to the consolidated finencial statements for the year ended Marceh 31, 2023

{Amount in lakhs, except per share data and nuember of shares)

includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognizing its shaze of further losses, Additional losses are recognised only to the exient that
the Group has incurred legal or construclive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. At each
reporting date, Group true-up its obligation to contribute towards the share of cumulative loss of the Joint venture,
and reversal, if any, arising is recognised as the gain under ‘Share of loss of a joint venture® in the statement of
Profit or Loss.

Following subsidiary companies and joint venture have been considered in the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:

Name of the entity Relationship Country % of Holding and voting power Principal
of either directly or indivectly through activities
incorpora subsidiary as at
tion
March 31, 2023 | March 31, 2022
TSI Yatra Private Limited Whoily owned India 100% 100% Air travel
subsidiary services
Yatra Corporate Hotel Solulions | Wholly owned India 100% 100% Hotel services
Private Limited subsidiary
Yatra Hotel Solutions Private Wholly owned India 100% 100% Hotel services
Limited subsidiary
Yatra TG Stays Private Limited Whoily owned India 100% 100% Hotel services
subsidiary
Yatra For Business Private Wholly owned India 160% 100% Alr travel
Limited (formerly known as Air subsidiary services
Travel Bureau Private Limited)
{formerly known as Air Travel
Bureau Limited)
Travel.Co.In. Private Limited Wholly owned India 100% 100% Air travel
(formerly known as subsidiary Services
Travel .Co.In. Limited)
Yatra Online Freight Services Wholly owned India 100% 100% Freight
Private Limited subsidiary forwarding
services
Adventure and Nature Network Jaint venture India 50% 50% Tour and travel
Private Limited SETvices
Yatra Middle East L.L.C-FZ* . Computer
Wholly owned United rogrammin,
Y ¢ programming,
g Arab 100% -
subsidiary Emirates consultancy and
relaled activities

*On February 9, 2023, Yaira Middle East L.L.C-FZ was incorporated with principal activity of computer
programming, consultancy and related activities.

2,6 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual and going concern basis, and the historical
cost convention except where the Ind AS requires a different accounting treatment.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 1o transfer a Jiability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The [air value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the Hability takes place either:

* In the principal market for the asset or liability
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Or
« In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous rnarket for the asset or liability
The principa! or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants acl in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques thai are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure {air value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inpuis and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair vatue hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

» Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

+ Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
cither directly (i.e. &s prices) or indirectly (i.¢. derived from prices).

» Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on & recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy hy re-assessing categorization (based on
the lowest level inpul that is signilicant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained
abave.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or
where fair values arc disclosed, are summarized in the note no 34.

2.7 Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on cumrent/non-current
classification. An asset is current when it is:

® Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
# Held primarily for the purpose of trading
e Expected to be reatised within twelve months after the reporting period

Qr

e Cash or cash equivalent unless restrictcd from being exchanged or used to seltle a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporling period.

All other assets are classified as non-curreni.
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A liability is curvent when:

¢ It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
® |t is held primarily for the purpose of trading
e It is due 10 be settled within twelve months after the reporting period

Or

o There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity
instruments do not affect its classification.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current,
Deferred tax assets and liabililies are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

The operating ¢ycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash
equivajents. The Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment {'"PPE")

An item is recognized as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognized at cost. The initial
cost of PPE comprises purchase price (including non-refundabie duties and taxes but exciuding any trade discounts
and rebates), borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributabie cost of bringing the asset to
its working condition for the intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as separate assets,-as appropriate, only
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to consolidated statement of
Profit or Loss at the time of incurrence.

(ains or losses arising from de-recognition of PPE are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of Profit or Loss when the
asset is derecognized.

Depreciation on PPE is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at based on the useful lives estimated by the
management. The Group has used the fellowing uscful lives 1o provide depreciation on its PPE.

Particulars Years

Compulers and peripherals 3

Office equipment 5

Furniture and fixtures 5

Leaschold improvements Amortized over the lower of primary lease period or economic

useful life, whichever is less
Vehicles 3 -7 years
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The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted approprately, at-least
as al each reporling dale so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effects of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual
values and / or depreciation methad are accounted prospectively, and aceordingly the depreciation is calculated over
the PPE’s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accumulated depreciation {or PPE sold, scrapped, retired or
otherwise disposed off are derecognized from the balance sheet and the resulting gains / (losses) are included in the
consolidated statement of Profit or Loss within other expenses / other income. The management basis its past
experience and technical assessment has estimated the useful life, which is at vardance with the life prescribed in
Part C of Schedule I of the Companies Act, 2013 and has accordingly, depreciated the assets over such useful life.

2.9 Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognized when the Group controls the asset, it is probable that future economic
benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assels are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recogniifon, intangible assets are
carried at cost less accumuiated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally penerated
intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the
cansolidated statement of Profit or Loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful ¢conomic life. The Group amortizes
the intangible asset over the best estimate of its useful life. Such intangible assets and intangible assels not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annuaily, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Al other
intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired

The amortization period and the amoriization method are reviewed at least at each financial year end. If the expected
useful life of the asset is sipnificantly different from previous estimates, the amartization period is changed
accordingly, If there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of ¢conomic bepefits from the asset, the
amonization metbed is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are accounted for in accordance with
Ind AS 8 - dccounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difTetence between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of Prafit or
Loss when the asset is derecognized.

Research and development cosis
Research eosts are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is recognized
as an intangibie asset when the Group can demonstrate all the following:

- The technical Teasibility of comptleting the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale

- Its intention to complete the asset

- Its ability to use or sell the asset

- How the asset will generate future economic benefits

- The availability of adequate resources to eomplete the development and 1o usc or sell the asset.

- The ability io measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
development. :

Intangible assets are amortized as below:

Non-compeie agreements 6.5 years
Intellectual property rights 3 years
Computer software and websites 3 to 10 years or license period, whichever is shorler

Customer relationships 4-10 years
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2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are tested ar least
annually or when there are indicators that an asset may be impaired, for impairment. Assets that are subject to
depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment, whenever events or ehanges in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may nat be recoverable or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. Such
circumstances include, though are not limited to, significant or sustained decline in revenues or eamings and
material adverse changes in the economic environment.

Impairment test for goodwill is performed at the level of each CGU or groups of CGUs expected to benefit from
acquisition-related synergies and represeut the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and which is not higher than the Group’s operating segment. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable proup of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or group of assets.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the earrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. To calculate value in use, the estimatcd future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
assel belongs. Fair value less costs 10 sell is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between inarket participants, less the costs of disposal. Impairment losses, if any,
are recognized in the statement of profit or loss (including other comprehensive Income) as a companent of
depreciation and amontization expense,

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made
annually to delermine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or
have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount, A
previously recognised impainment loss is reversed ouly if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recogniscd. The reversal is lirnited so
that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor excecd the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss,

2.11 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a conteact is, or contains, a lease. Thal is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group &5 a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all Feases, exeept mr short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

i) Right-of-use assets

The Group recoghnises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
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losses, and adjusled for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilit*=~ recognised, initial direcl costs incurred, and jcase payments made at or before the commencement
date less any ,.ase incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the iease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

. Buildings 3 to 9 years

- Others 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated usefu! life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 2.10 Impairment of
nou-financial assets.

i) Lease Liabilities ,

Al the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
paymenls to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments {including in substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain o be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option ta \erminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred ta produce inventories) in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencemnent date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments {c.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

iif) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group appties the shon-term lease recognition exemption to #ts short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(i.e., those leases that have a Jease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value, Lease payments on shor-terin leases and leases of low-value assets are
recagnised as expense on a siraight-line basis over the lease term.

Refer to Note 43 for disclosures on leases,

2.12 Borrowing cost

Borrowing cost includes interest and amortization of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of
borrowings.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial perod of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the
respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they oceur.

2.13 Financial instruments

(i} Financial assets

fuitial recognition and measurement
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Financia! assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequenily measured at amortized cost, at fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value thraugh profit or loss.

The classification of financial assels at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group
initially measures a finangial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial assel not measured at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain & significant financing component or
far which the Group has applied the practical expedicnt are measured at the transaction price.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amonized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount
outstanding, This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed a: an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
® Financial assets at amorlized cost (debt instruments)
® Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt
instruments)
o Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and tosses

upon dergcognition {equily instruments)
o Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments at amortized cost (deht lustruments)
A financial instrument is measured at the amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash
flows, and

b) Contractual terms of the ‘asset give rise on specified daies to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or

impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortized cost include trade receivables, term deposits, security deposits and
employee loans. For more information on receivables, refer to note 34,

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive [ncome (OC1) (debt instruments)

A financial instrument is classified and measured at fair vaiue through QCI if both of the following conditions are
met:

a} The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and sclling, and,
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b} The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets designated at fair valoe throngh OCI {equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to elassify imevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated ai fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity for the issuer under “/¥D 45 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation™ and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Financial instruments at Fair Value through Profit and Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or ioss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value.

Financial assets (debt instruments} with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model, Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair vatue through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

De-recognition

A financial asset {or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognized {i.c., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

&  The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
Or

® The Group has transferred its nights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an ebligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay 10 a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either (&) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retatned the risks and rewards of ownership.

When the Group has (ransferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through
arrangement, it evaluates if; and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of ils continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated lizbility are measured on a
basis thai reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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Impairment of [inancial assets

The Group recognized an allowance Tor expected credit losses (ECLs) for all instruments not held at fair value
through profit or foss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in actordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximalion of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sate of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12-months {a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, imrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and coniract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recopnizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specilic to the debtors and the economic environment

i) Financial liabilities
Initial recagnition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate. All linancial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings including bank
overdrafts and share warrants.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of [inancial liabilitics depends on their classification, as deseribed below:
Loans and borrowing

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and bomrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the EIR method. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive loss, This category applies to interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other payables.

Derecognition

A financia! liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing lability are substantially medified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 2 new liability. The difference in the respective carying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
fimanctal position if there is a eurrently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to seitle on a nel basis, to realise the assets and settle the labilities simultaneously.




Yatra Online Limited (formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited}
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Amount in lakhs, except per share data and number of shires)

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, at fair value such as warrants etc. at each balance sheet date,

Fair vaiue is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabifity in an orderly transaction
between market pasticipants at the measuwrement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

» In the principal market for the asset or liability

Or

® In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group,

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market panicipants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest,

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses vatuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
availabie to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
uoobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilitics for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are calegorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowesl level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

® Level 1 - quoted prices {unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

e L evel 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly {i.e. as prices) or indirecily (i.e. derived from prices).

» Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation {based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

For the purpose of falu'r value diselosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained
above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments that are measured al fair value or where fair values are
disclosed, are summarised in the note no 30,

2.14 Revenue recognition
The Group generates it's revenue from contracts with customers. The Group recognize its revenue when it satisfy a

performance abligation by transferring conirol of the promised services to a customer in an amount that reflects the
consideration that the Group expect to receive in exchange for those services. When the Group act as an agent in the
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transection under Ind AS 113, the Group recognize revenue only for our commission oa the arrangement. The Group
has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of airline tickets, hotel bookings. sale of rail and bus tickets as
the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel services and the Group does not control the
service provided by the supplier to the fraveller and as principal in case of sale of holiday packagés since the Group
controis the services before such services are transferred to the traveller.

The Group provides travel products and services to agents and leisure customers (B2C—DBusiness 1o Consumer),
corporate travellers (B2E—Business to Enterprise) and B2B2C (Business to Business to Consumer) travel agents in
India and abroad. The revenue from rendering these services is recognised in the consolidated statement of Profit or
Loss (including other comprehensive Income) once the services are rendeved. This is generally the case 1) on
issuance of ticket in case of sale of airline tickets 2} on date of hotel booking and 3) on the date of campletion of
oulbound and inbound tours and packages.

Air Ticketing

The Group receives commissions or service fees/ incentive from the travel supplier/ bank and/or traveling
customers. Revenue from the sale of airline tickets is recognised as an agent on a net commission earned basis,
Revenue from service fee is recognised on eamed basis. Both the performance obligations are satisfied on issuance
of airline ticket to the traveler. The Group records an allowance for cancellations at the time of the transaction based
on historical experience and restrict revenue recognition only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal of revenue will not occur in future periods,

Incentives related to airlines are accounted for as variable consideration when the amount of revenue to be
recognized can be estimated to the extent that it is probabie that a significant reversal of any incremental revenue
will mot oceur,

The Group receives upfront fee from Global Distribution System {*GDS’") providers for facilitating the booking of
girline tickets on its website or other distribution channels to travel agents for using their system. The upfront fees is
recognised as revenue for actua) airline tickets sold over the total number of airline tickets to be sold over the term
of the agreement, in both cases using such GDS platforms, and the balance amount is recognized as deferred
revenue under contract liabilities.

The Group eamns incentives from airlines if specific targets are achieved over a period of time. Such incentives are
treated as varizble consideration and the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in
exchange for services at the contract inception date and at each reposting date using either the most likety amount
method or the expected value method, depending on which method the Group expects to better predict the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled. The most likely amount is used for those coniracts with a single volume
threshold, while the expected value method is used for those with more than one velume threshold. The Group
includes estimated variable consideration in the transaction price only to the extent 1hat it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not eccur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable eonsideration is subsequently resolved.

The disclosures of significant estimates and asswmptions relating 1o the estimation of variable consideralion are
provided io Note 3.

Hotels and Packages

Revenue from hotel reservation is recognised as an agent on a nel commission eamed basis. Revenue from service
fee from customer is recognised on eamned basis. Both the performance obligations are satisfied on the date of hotel
booking. The Group records an allowance for cancellations at the time of booking on this revenue hased on
historical experience and restrict revenue recognition only te the extent that it is highly prohable that a significant
reversal of revenue will not occur in furure periods.
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Revenue [rom packages are accounted for on a gross basis as the Group controls the services before such
services are transfesred to the traveller and is determined 3o be the primary obligor in the arrangement. The Group
recognises revenue from such packages on the date of completion of outbound and inbound tours and packages. .
Cost of delivering such services includes cost of hatels, airlines and package services and is disclosed as service
cost.

Other Services

Revenue from other services primarily comprises of revenue from sale of rail and bus tickets and revenue from
freight forwarding services. Revenue from the sale of rail and bus tickets is recognized as an agenl on a net
commission earmed basis on the date of booking of ticket, net of allowance for cancellations at the time of the
transaction based on historical experience. Revenue related to freight forwarding services is recognized st the time
of departure of the cargo at the origin in case of exponts. In case of Impents, revenue is recognized on the basis of
armival dates. The Group acts as an agent, accordingly recognizes revenue only for commission on the arrangement.

Others

Income fram other source, primarily comprising advertising revenue, revenue from sale of coupons & vouchers and
fees for facilitating website access to travel insurance companies are being recognised as the services are being
performed as per the terms of the contracts with respective suppliers.

Revenue is recognised net of allowances for cancellations, refunds during the period and taxes.

The Group provides loyalty programs under which paricipating customers eamn loyalty points on current
transactions that can be redeemed for future qualifying transactions. Under its customer loyalty programs, the Group
allocates a portion of the consideration received to loyalty points that are redeemable against any future purchases of
the Group’s services, This allocation is based on the relative stand-alone selling prices. The amount ailocated to the
loyalty program is deferred and is recognized as revenue when the Group fulfils its obligations to supply the
products/services under the terms of the program,

The Group incurs certain marketing and sales promotion expenses and recorded the same as reduction in revenue.
This includes the cost for upfront cash incentives to the end users and select loyalty programs as incurred for
customer inducement and acquisition for promoting transactions across various booking platforms.

Contract balances

Coniract assets

A contract asset is recognized for the right to consideration in exchange for services transferred to the customer if
receipt of such consideration is conditional on completion of funher activities/ services, i.¢., the Group does not
have an unconditional right to receive consideration.

Trade receivables

A reccivable is recognized if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer {i.e., only
the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Chnntract liabilities
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A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer, If a customer pays consideration before the
Group transfers services to the customer, a coniract lability is recognised when the paymenti is made or the payment
is due (whichever is earlier). Coniract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

2.14 (a) Others
(i) Government grants

Government grants are recopnized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions have been complied with or will be complied with. When the grant refates to an expense item, it
is recognized as income on & systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is imtended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as income in equal amounts over the
expected useful life of the related asset.

The Group has assessed and determined to present grants as other income in the consolidated statement of Profit and
Loss (including other comprehensive Income).

(#i) Interest income

Interest income comprises income on term deposits. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the consolidated
statement of Profit and Loss {including other comprehensive Income), using the effective interest rate method (EIR}.

2.15 Foreign currency transactions

The consclidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group's entities at their respective functional
currency spot rates at the date the transactions first qualify for reeognition.

Monetary assets and liabiiities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spat rates
of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized
in the statement of profit or lass and other comprehensive loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transtated using the
eachange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-manetary items measured al fair value in a foreign
currency arc translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or |oss on the change in fair value of the item (i.¢., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or toss js
recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

2.16 Employee benefits
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The Group’s employee benefits mainly include wages, salaries, bonuses, defined contribution to plans, defined
benefit plans, compensated absences and share-based payments. The employee benefits are recognized in the year in
which the associated services are rendered by the Group’s employees.

€

Defined contribution plans

The contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized in consolidated statement of Profit or Loss as
and when the services are rendered by employees. The Group has no further obligations under these plans
beyond its periodic contributions.

Defined benefit plans

In accordance with the local Yaws and repulations, all the employees in India are entitled for the Gratuity plan.
The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees (meeting the required vesting service
condition) at retirement ov termination of employment, based oo a pre-defined formmula. The Group provides
for the liability towards the said plans on the basis of actuarial valuation earried out as at the reporting date, by
an independent qualified actvary using the projected unmit-credit metbod. The obligation towards the said
benefits is recognized in the balance sheet, at the present value of the defined benefit obligations less the fair
value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash ontflows, using interest rates of govemnment bonds, The interest income /
(expense) are calculated by applying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan assets and defined benefit
abligations liability. The net interest income / (expense) on the net defined benefit liability is recognized in the
consolidated stalement of Profi{ and Loss. However, the related yre-measurements of the net defined benefit
liability are recognized directly in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. The said
re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions}), the return on plan assets {excluding interest). Re-measurements are not re-classified to
the consolidated statement of Profit aod Loss in any of the subsequent periods.

Share-based payments .

The Group operates equity-settled, employee share-based compensation plans, under which tbe Group receives
services from employees as consideration for stock options towards shares of the ullimate holding company. In
case of equity-settled awards, the fair value is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of Profit
and Loss within employee benefits as employee share-bascd payment expenses, with a corresponding increase
in share-based payment reserve (a component of equity). The total amount so expensed is determined by
reference to the grant date fair value of the stock options granted, which includes the impact of any market
performance conditions and non-vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions. However, the non-market performance vesting and service conditions are
considered in the assumption as Lo the number of options that are expected to vest. The forfeitures are
estimated at the time of grant and reduce the said expense rateably over the vesting period. The expense 50
delermined is recognized over the requisite vesting period, wbich is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. As at each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest, if required. It recognizes the impact of any revision to original esiimates in
the period of change. Accordingty, no expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for
which vesting is conditional upon a market performance / non-vesting condition. These are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market / non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that service conditions
and all other nonmarket performance are satisfied, Where the terms of an award are modified, in addition 1o the
expense pertaining to the original award, an incremental expense is recognized for any modification that resufts
in additional fair value, ot is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

The share-based payment expenses is recharged to the Company, which is adjusted against Deemed capital contribulion by
ultimate holding company.
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2.17 Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred income tax, Income tax is recognized in the consolidaied
statement of Profit and Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in the other comprehensive
income or directly in cquity, in which case the related income tax is also recognized accordingly.

Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rates, laws and regulations, which have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The payment made in excess / {shonfall} of the Group’s income
tax obligation for the period are recognized in the Balance Sheet as current income tax assets / liabilities. Any
interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential 1ax assessmenis are not included in Income tax charge or
{credit}), but are rather recognized within [inance costs.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recogrized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utitized, except:

» When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from tbe initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

* In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in
joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available apainst which the
temporary differences can be utilized,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probabie that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at cach reporting date and are recognized to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

« When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss

« In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associales and
interests in joint arrangements, when the liming of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controiled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferved tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realized or the liabilily is settled, based on tax vates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at tbe reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside consolidated statement of profit or loss are recognized outside
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognized, in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive income/loss or directly in equity.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxation authority,

Minimum alterate tax (MAT) paid in a year is charged to the statement of profit and loss as eurrent tax for the year,
The deferred tax asset is recognised for MAT credit available only to the extent that it is probable that the concemed
company will pay normal income tax during the specified period, i.¢., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to
be carried forward. In the year in which the company recognizes MAT credil as an asset, it is created by way of
credit to the statement of profit and loss and shown as part of deferred tax asset, The company reviews the “MAT
credit entitternent” asset at each reporting date and writes down the asset to the extent that it is no longer probable
that it will pay normal tax during the specified period.

Income tax assets and liabilities are off-set against each other and the resultant net amount is presented in the
balancc sheet, if and only when, (a) the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the current income
tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and where there
is an intention {o settie the current income tax balances on net basis.

2.18 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are caleulated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average
number of equity shares outstanding during the period is the number of equity shares outstanding is adjusted for
share split that have changed the number of equity shares outstanding, without a corresponding change in resources,

For the purposc of calculating dijuted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period atiributable to equity
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects of
all dilutive potcatial equity shares.

2.1% Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision
due to the passage of ime is recognized as a finance cost.

These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to he reimbursed, for example under an insurance coniract, the
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimburscment is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement.

2,20 Contingent liabilities

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may,
but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation ar a present obligation in
respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no prevision or disclosure is made. A contingent
liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot be
measured reliably,

2.21 Cash and cash equivalents
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Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash flow statemznt comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term
investments with an original maturity of three months or less {that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and cash equivalents and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value), However, for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of Cash Flows, in addition to above items, any bank overdrafls / cash credits that are integral
part of the Group’s cash management, are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

2.22 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred in consolidated stalgment of Profit and Loss.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the eontractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognized for Non-—controlling Inierest over the fair value of the jdentifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is in excoess of the aggregate consideration
transferred, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the aequisition date. If the
reassessment siill results in an excess of the fair value of net assefs acquired over the apgregate consideration
transferred, then the gain is recognised iz OCT and accumulated in equity as capital reserve, However, if there is no
clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity recognises the pain directly in equity as capital reserve, without
routing, the same through OCL

Afler initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cast less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group's Cash Generating Units {(CGUs) (refer to Note 6) that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

2.23 Exeeptional Items

Exceptional items refer to items of income or expense within the consolidated statement of profit and loss that are of
such size, nature or incidence that their separate disclosure is considered necessary to explain the performance for
the period (refer note 44).

3. Significant accrounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said consolidated financial statements are continuously evaluated by the
Group, and are based on historical expericace and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of
future events), that the Group believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. The said estimates are
based on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or that occurred afier that date but provide
additional evidence about conditions existing as at the reporting date. Although the Group regularly assesses these
estimates, actual results could differ matenally from these cstimates - even if the assumptions underlying such
estimates were reasnnable when made, if these results differ from historical experience or other assumptions do not
turn out to be substantially accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized in the consclidated financial
statements in the period in which they become known.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation unceniainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilittes within the
next financial year, are described below. Actual resuits cnuld differ from these estimates,

a. Impairment reviews

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell, The Group first determines value in use to calculate
recoverable amount. If value in use calculation indicates impairment, then fair value less cost to sell is also
determined, The value in use calcuiation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget
approved by the management for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not
yet comminted to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being
tested. After budget period, cash flow is determined based on extrapolation. The value in use is sensitive to the
discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growih rate used for
exirapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful
lives recognised by the Group.

The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the CGUs, including sensitivity analysis, are
disclosed and further explained in Note 2.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually on March 31 and whenever there are indicators of impairment.

b. Measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for uncollectible trade receivables snd contract nssets

The Group uses a provision matrix tn calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision matrix
is initiatly based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will-calibrates the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed (refer to note 33).

c. Loyalty programs

Customers are entitled to loyalty points on certain transactions that can be redeemed for future qualifying
transactions. The Group estimates revenue allocation between the loyalty program and the other components of the
sale with assumptions about the expected redemption rates, The Group considers the likelihood that the cusiomer
will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates of the points that will be redeemed in the filure and aoy
adjustments to the contract liability balance are charged against revenue.

d. Taxes . .

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable prefit will be
available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required 10 determing the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of fulure taxable
profits, future tax planning sirategies and recent business performences and developments. The Group has not
recognized deferred tax asset on unused iax Tosses and temporary differences in most of the subsidiaries of the
Group, Refer to Note 28.

e Defined benefit plans

The costs of post-retirement benefit obligation under the Gratuity plan are determined using actuarial valuations. An
actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future.
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increase, mortality rates and fitture nension




Yatra Online Limited {formerly known as Yatra Online Private Limited)
Notes to the consolidated finaocial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023
(Amouat in lakhs, except per share data and number of shares)

inereases, Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date {refer to note
33).

f. Estimating the incremental borrewing rate

The Group eannot readiiy determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities, The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group woeuld have to pay to borrow
over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-
of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group "would have to pay',
which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to refleet the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available.

B Useful life of Intangible assets

The usefu! lives of Group's intanpible assets are determined by management at the time the asset is acquired based
on historical experience, after considering market conditions, industry practice, technological developments,
obsolescence and other factors. The useful life is reviewed by management periodically, including at each financial
year end. The lives are hased on historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events,
which may impact their iife, such as changes in technology

h Recognition of variable consideration incentives pertaining to air teketing

The Comipany receives incentives from Global Distribution System {GDS") providers for achieving minimum
performance thresholds of ticket segments sales aver the term of the agreement. The Company does not have a righl
to payment until the tickel segment thresholds 2s agreed are met. The veriable considerations (i.e. incentives) to be
included in the transaction price is estimated at inception and are adjusted at the end of each reporting period as
additional information becomes available only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. For doing such assessmeni, management considers various assumptions
wbich primarily includes the Company's estimated air tickel sales growth rates and the impact of marketing
initiatives on the Company’s ability to achieve sales targets set by the GDS providers. These assumptions are
forward looking and could be affected by future economic and market ¢conditions. Also refer to-note 22.

4, Standards issued bot not effective untl the date of autherization for issuance of the said consolidated
financial statements

The Ministry of Corporate AfTairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023
dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective from 01 April 2023.

{i) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to Ind AS 8
The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors. It has also been clarified how entities use measurement techniques and inputs fo develop

accaunting estimates,

The amendmenis are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and apply to changes
in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that ocgur on or after the start of that period.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(li) Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to Ind AS 1
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The amendments aim ta help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the
requirement for entities to disclose their *significant’ accounting policies with a requirement ta disclose their
‘material® accounting policies and adding guidance on how entitics apply the concept of materiality in making
decisions about accounling policy disclosures.

The amendments to Ind AS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or afier 1 April 2023, Consequential
amendments have been made in Ind A5 107. .

Thbe Group is currently revisiting their accounting policy information disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amended requirgments, '

(iii) Deferred Tux related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to Ind AS
12

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under Ind AS 12, so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur op or after the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented. fn addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a deferred tax asset
{provided that sufficien! taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability should also be recoguised for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with leases and decommissioning obligations.
Consequential amendmenis have been made in Ind A5 101, The amendments to Ind AS 12 are applicable for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 Apri} 2023,

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments,
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5. Property, plunt und cquipment ("FFE™)

The following table rep the recongiliativn of changes in the carrying value of #PE for the periad ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022,
Computer und Fueniture and L huld Vehlcles* Office Tatal
Peripherals Flxtures Improvements Equipment
Gruss currying value
AtApril 1, 2021 2,290 5 9 545 182 303
Additians 38 - 70 - 123
Disposalsfadjusmmem 115 - - 127 1% 260
At March 31, 2022 2233 5 9 488 . 164 L899
Additions 0 3 365 4 441
Disposals/adjestment 149 1 154 22 365
Al March 31, 2023 L1554 7 ki 459 146 2575
Aecomulated Deprecletion
At April 1, 2021 223 i 9 414 135 2,789
Charge for the year 57 H - 66 23 146
Disposals/adjusiment 115 - - 122 8 258
At dMarch 31, 2022 1,172 2 9 A58 ! 140 2,880
Charge for the pedod kL] 2 - g8 15 143
Disposals/adjustment 143 1 - 134 b s
At March 31, 2023 061 3 4 32 113 2,517
[ )

Net carrying value '
At Maorch 31, 2022 61 k] - 130 24 213

At Mareh 31, 2023 i 3 4 - T 13 i 458

*Includes vehiclcs bypothiecated w banks where carmying value of vehicles held under vehicle lasn have a gross book value of INR 355 {March 31, 2012: INR 275),
depreciation charge for the year anded March 31, 2023 of INR 50 {March 31, 2022: INR 46), accumulated depreciation of INR 52 {March 31, 2022; INR 144}, net bock

value of INR 303 (March 31, 2022: INR. 131}, Vehicles are pledged as security against the related vehicle loan.

1. During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company hay taken overdraft facility which is fully secured against pari passu chacges on all property, pl:m‘_ém

equipmen! of "Yarre Online Limited” and “Yatra for Business Privale Limiled",
2. Refer note No. 36 for disclosure on contraciual commitments for the acquisition of propenty, plani and equipmenl.
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Vatra Cokine Limiied (krmehy koo ay 3 otra Onliee Privaic Litibed
Naies |4 the cotpalplited Moaneial ttattments for thr yeas ended March 31, 2003
{Amimit 14 laht exespl per 1hare drid xnd pomber ol shyro}

15. Sbare Cupital

March 13, Marck 1,
— 2 Jeh
Antharfied sxaro
200,000 [edpreh 3, N0E2 20HLDO0 b ety shaee of TNR § ol o0 -l
Irord, aubacrived aed killy paid-ap shares
VLAR2527 tMarch 11, 2022: LSS, 1301 egty chare of DMK | ich fully pall up 1145 .44
1,148 LLY%
. af the thars At the o at 1he ood of e repartiog porid £ year
Foity chares Marech 3. 200 Mlireh 3, 2821
Nn. of shares Par valur Ko, of tharsy War vilue
A Uer bemarane of e yeer 1LER94,100 Ly 1102 [N
Tuwund dunne, the oz R LA ] 6 W0 AU
Share ernnguehal o MAGIng of tharcd® . - (53,189,410 -
TIT.B9, M equity bores THR 1 each Ivund carh during 1be ver o tilitting® - P 111,884 130 -
Ourgtandizg at Lbe cod of he year 114,31} (¥ Lipes 130 Ly
*Ttw Boand of Tl o pod taardwlden 1o the mesling dated Deoembwer 8, 2621 sl Drecember 9, 2011 | J: ol sub duvison of one egainy thares of PR LD mio 1o oty shooes of faee value of THR | each

++The Compary b modeokorn » nghtls bude of 2,627,697 Fqulty Shans at g ite procol 2 226 po Eguiry Shase, Wnu 102 620 14 il

Share applicaiop monoy peodiog allarsens

March 31, Tlarch 3t
Openmg Balwaeg E-——— _w'=
Add ; Rersipws during vee yverr 6..201 m'}
Le=s 2 Rochund dhring the year .
Lait : Allctmeni during the yeir fﬁllnl ' 1837)

h. Terma/righls Brtached 1n equity shares

The Parent Compazy ha aaly tue clorx of equiny chaet hrving par vaue ol TR | per s, Each hlder of aputy shares i oxtitled to codt nne vote per dhae Tl PR Comgtry um bot paid mmy dawilernd dunag e yeas eadod barch
31, 2020 wed Morch 1), 2002

0 e rvemt af lqueletion of the Ferent Ceonpery, luh}m ta rovisings of the Ariicles of Awocoion of the Campeny sl of the Campanies Ae, 2613, the hakbers of egaliny sharc miil be retivted fo resive Femning iicl of the P

Congay, s of dimri alalln emarty, T ik wall be ln ey 1k urhier oF aquaty share bald by e 2lwnchndders.
£ Shara beld by bale Loldire wulkor thelr

! Atarch M 1013 Maren 30 3023

W b of shares Aminal Na of shurey Amoupl
THCL Trrd Holdung Cveme Limined, the bolding comonoy 101,515,137 [E2E] DRIAR A4 592
Auds Copsohdeed DT Pto Lol Fellow Saba iy of bekding sotpeny 1 L0235 460 i 18035460 11

*Trcuiding 1o exquiny shares of PNR, 1/- each b by Db S bmingn and one aquuy shore hod by hanib Aman, on behal f and xx aoou sea of THCL Trave Holdsg Cypru ! bmited an on
“Baeh 31, 7033 [ March 31, 2032 Inchuding (o ety chareg of TNR 1/~ cach hald by Dhmy Shriog sad one apery shore hekd by Mantsh Arwn, o bouit! snd & rommemes of THECL
Trase! Holthnp Cppmas Limimd)

o. Datails af sberghodders {az per Ibe rophecr of ibareholden) kolding maore iYan 5% sharm lo e Compy vy

Biarvh 31, 2023 March 31, 2021
i hplding Pio, ol skprey ] hﬁlﬂ.
Equity shares of INK | cach dlly pald oo s an March 33, 202) & March 33, 2002 .
THCL T el Holdme Cynnn Luwesed™ 101 816,137 6 1% 0, LB LT £h644
Acln Cemanlidmed IME PTE Ll 1 1088460 o AEN 11,004,450 90N

"Includmp ten equary shares of BIR |-y el by Dbne Sk and oo aquiey thare bdd by Maush Amin, on behalf e & somisees af THCL Teavd Holding Cyprus Lidited ws an Morch 31, 2023 and Mareh 1, 2022,
A per recxds of ( be comy, Lachuliog it mginer of sharholders! memborn and mber decatatom roared fom shareholders rrrarting benpfici] [nerst, ke sbwove pharsbolkdiog
repeciens: bowh bgal and benefinl owness g of charm
There o no boeus, sy ismed and o chore boupht hock during Bve yean, inmediarey preanbing L nmoning die
LDinting; L yer enal March 11, 2023, i Paser Censpary ba allotind 3,575 thare of MR 10 ech | mbnajuo to (ke aliotoett, eick aquey charm of fher value of INAL 50 was pub-
dyvuded into 16h aquay shor of Boe value of TR 1mch) by convemang oade parable ol BMR. 7% of ibe raksholder trto muiry.

Droiafls ol Lbare budtl by pramoter

Alarrh 31, 21111
Euity 1= ,
Mo, of thared 32 Chaoge Sharn aued ek Nie of sharey al % of Tedzl %o churgy
e beginning of daring the auiogchbed an daring th 1he ead of ihe Bhar dusiag
e prrsod pectod splinteg afsbara “ il pericd e pactod
Eouiy share of INR 1 exch follv pald
THCL Travd Heldics Cvpna Limited® U5, 145440 LET.E0T . - LA 137 2391% ThMN
Asha Corsabrlel el TU C Fic Lid 11085460 . - - 15,085 460 a6k Da0%
ara Ordice, Inc. . . . . . D, 00% LTS
Tousd EETTESE X Y 5775 : PR XY R T XY
*Indwbing tem equey shorey of INR L cich bt by Divwy Shings and one oquery share held by bunish doun, on behal £ acad a8 nemmees of TRCL Trave Hoktmy Cyprus Limgiad a o Mok 31, 3023 o Morch 71, 20632,
Murch 31, 201t
Equiky dam - :
o, of whargs at Lharas Sharm Iyt cath e of dores ar . o Tatal 5 rBLiEE
ite begloning of duaHog the ertingnbshed on Saring the year e wnd of the Sharm during
Ibe pear yaar spilitizg of vhazey PR YT rhe yanr

Fouliy thares ol THR 1 each Tidiv pa bt
THEL Travd Holdus Cyomy |omitad® 989143 581 19.918 340 o0, 189,440 EERL 2 HE B4 o9%
Axly Comchdamd B%IC Fe Lid [N1L8-01 - {1,108, 45 ThARS 240 11 0RE G0 X118 4.00%
¥ orvw Qdioe, Tnc 1151 - - - 01.5W% 0%
Tuoia! !H}Tgﬂl\ ué!ll I“.In 150] !ll?lﬁ"‘l‘igm lI!Lg‘!g!!l'lﬂ l)gé% L9114

* Inclushiog tow cquify shom of TR (- vach hedd by Thogy Shirogl aod ane vty share hobd by tanlah Amyth, on behal Faml 83 neminest of TICL Tl Iluiﬂnl-t,'wlun Limaird 23 on hiarch 11, 2037 ancl blarch 15, 2022




Yatra Onlldo Limited (fereerly koiown 2a Yalra Onllne Private Limdled)
Nutes o (be consoldaled nanda) statemonts for The year omled Sorch 3k, 2013
{Amoeunt in lkba pucept per whare data and ssember of shaires}

16. Borromw ines
March 31, 20 Nrioreh 31, 2023

Srcured
Veliiels [opn from banka 2 n
Facicring 10,897 3514
Non-Coavertlh e Debenture 4,172 .

15, M8 3388
Leas: Current Borrowingy 10347 134
Laa: Carrent matuntics of Mon-Current Barrowires kil1] i
Non-Curremt Bameainn 2400 4

lagerss) Ratg Year uf Blatnriy Eregoency of it Marel 3, 202} March 31, 2012
irstalmenrs Imstalisrenly
utstanding per
Leclljb

Yebiele kan from bank T t0 11 14% 125-3018 Muiandhky 2150 2% EE]
Facloring Floating roke= O detitand On domand - 10847 1514
Hen-Comverticls Debormute I+t (4,25 2024-2005 Momhly 15.22 A 172 k)

A5 1, e
"IM MOLR + LI0% ne 113% sareod
Eank ovardruans

During the Curmt year the Group has 1aken as overdra i faeiliny of INR 20 irom the: Federal bank This facility i fully secarol agiozi, pan passu charges on the ondire adia ewvent saseis and 3l movable
Fned zets Al Yatma Caline Londiet” 10d ™ Yairs for Business Private Limived”. Tha anitre ameint of bonk overdmaft focility was uodrnewn ag at March 38, 2021

Duaring the year Mareh 31, 2027 (e Growp had an overdralt facilisy of INR 45 fom e Canara hank, which b closed diaring the cutrent year. The fagilisy was kanavd by foed depomil. The entire amownt of
bank overdraft faellity wiay ovdraan oy al March 3, 2021 |

Factoring*
The Ceritity of INR 1,000 (March 11,3622 INR 4.900) B lahen from [CECE bunk by the Gromp. The faclliy b Rully sacorad agaial the fined depaosite. As on harch 31, 2023, the Group has uiiloed INR

'
Bil{March 3t, 3022; TSR 3574) owt of the il Beilite for (acioring. As on bMarch 31, 203, 1he Groep has wrilised [T (blarch 31, 2622 TNR Nilj out of the abowe facility for isuancs of hank

for ™ iopa] Air W A, i
During He: current year, the Groap ha lakan a Bcility of DNR 5,500 fom Axis bank The feiliey B Ry kanaed agaim exclugive charpe ot apmrmific recevohios discounted by Akis bank, pan pats
charge an the iire Qe curtanl asset amd 8 minable (xad assets of “Yatra Ondme Limima?” and “Yatra for Busitets Private Limized™, both presan and fatore and crch rmrgin in the foem of fixed
Ecposita fior 20% of the faciliy, As on March 11, 2023, the Group hus ulize] PR S04 out of e shave eliny.

Dwring The current year, the Group hat thum 2 failly of IMR 4,000 from Federal bank. The faciliyy ix fulty seourod agabnst eachuive charge on yporifle receiable dizcomted ry Federal Bank. pari paxae
charges oa the entire ot corment agscty and all movable fixed aaty of “Yara Crling Limited"” nod “Yowa kv Buximai Prnie Lipgted™, beth pratent and future 20 enxh murgin bn the Eam of faed
depogits fof 20% of the facillry. A9 on March 31, 2023, the Groop has wilised TVR Y960 cul af the abovr facility.

Drarlrg the curtend yar, the Grotip hax taken n fagility of D9R 5,000 froen IRFC bank The Geility i fully secwred against exelushve charge on geeific rectivabie diceunied by IDFC Bank, pori passy
chargry oo the oolire other carreal 255013 and A7 mevible fooad ssvets of “Yotrn Cmline Limital™ and “Yatra for Buinesa Private Limied™, both proot 2nd future and s3sh margin in (e form of fowed
deposies or 20% of e facilry. Au oo March 11, 2023, tho Group has wtilised BVR 1442 tut of e ahove [aaility for fachoriog.

"Refer sa pote | 3 Fize dotail of ducounted ceorivable,

Vehivte o

“Thid ine judes the vehiche taken on foan by the company. Refe 10 Mole 5.

The Giroup hau wsed e bommovings from banka and franicial mstittions for geoeral comperate purpass for whoch such term foan was 1zken

Noo=Cappertibie DeBoninre

Kau Cowverdhly Debentuees from Blacksslf Capinet P Led & Alxck Saif Dadfo Credie fuid (" flackoeil®)

During the firancial et coding Muech 3§, 2023, Yatta Onlite Limisal bad isua] 300 unlisted, secired, rademmable, and ek {NCT) af a nominal value of INR 500,000 each,

bed and allojial by the Congamy o 4 privats placeraent basls to Blacksoil ageregsling to MR Rs 3,000 Thee NCDs shall be redeerned with Intersst @ 14.29% poa ducing 2 periad of thirry menths from
the daie: of allotmwent (Cvrcmber 1, 20224 The firs repaveaens of principal shall commence ot Augwe 11, 2023 amd inicren payrment 1tanal Gom Decomber 31, 2002, Pon 12 monlts Gom due allotment
date, till e lime simun poyabls 10 Blachss! is aileast INR 200, Yutra Ontline Limbcrl shadl haye ihe right (rat v Lhe obligminon) fo redeem any o 2l of the BCDw by paying all outstandUig amaount. Ay
prepaymen wifl atiract premiuin of 2% on the amount beog redsamealipropaid Theee NCDs have boen yerured aguinss the first parl-pasnn charps ovar the movable flued assers ond current asuets {bath
preent and Fature),

Nen Cowverribie Debanturet frome XPT Cagital irst

During tee fmanca] year ending Much 31, 1123, ¥ama Online Freight Private Limitead (“Yatra Froight™ has asual 1,500 Nes. of Noo-Comverible Debeniure (' NCE¥) at Gor vabue of INR 1,00,009 each
to NP1 Copheal thosi, aggrepulng 1o TNR 1500, The eaire M0 phall be radeomed proponimmardy with bnterest @ 14% p.a. with ity coupan prymens of TNR 12 i aach guarter b 2 periad of twenty:
four monthy, The smount Lgaime issuance of NCDK ltave bam redvad by Yaim Erelpht on July |, 2022, wherea the fint rpayment of Prineipal wes fom Scpiember 39, 2022, ond interen paymsa
commenend feom Jule 31, 2022, and lat paymem of Tnterest and Principal shall be made on june 30, 2024.

The NCDs have beorn sosured agaloet the (it part-pissy chorge over he cusrent aikets (both prosont and funue) amd excluslve first charge on Intangitle Aspets (ot precont and hew o) of Yatra Froight and
2 covporate uaraniee from Yama Onfing Lmyied

Vehlclt fous .

This Ecluchs the vekdelos taken on kan by the campame. Rofor ta nate | of Adnecore VI

{ b Group hos weed the Bamowines fom: banks and financial instinuans for feherat comoralt DUTD0ses for which such term lean wos ke,

Quarierly relurns of saiements af current pasets Fled by tha Group with banks or finnnciel instinutlons are penerally in ngicament with fite books of acceunts of respert ive ety of the Graup exvexpt below
mcional maleril docrepuncia

The Girowp by 00l reguired to subrult quaricrby stalanents 1 hankes fom Augest 11, 2621 o by £, 2022




¥alra Online Limited [forrmerk known as Yoacrg Chetloe Private Limdied |
Noles te 1he comsoliclated Brasicial statemients bor oo year eoded Marek 31, 2019
LAmount in lakhy, excenf per share dole ood number of shores}

g b, v baere Borrowines boryg Irepn avalled. iy glearrent aspels,
Amiouct 7y reporied n -
A Is 1
Quarter Name of Bank Partindors hoks nl'a:nn::u he quartorly ::;::::: Reazon ur:atm:
| returnhsintement 1o Bank

Ay Bank Ld" 13,363 J2A32 Ll

| Axis Hank Ltd* N1 BB 23]

Ais Bani Lid” Frkss] BECETS Bgo)*

Anis Banik L rdp 4310 4449 L34 d

Ax it Bank Lide 4844 433 [21kd

ax in Blank il 15,0194 12 391 27014

Blaciaoll Copltal Fue Ligee | N7 Worth te35d 16,356 7l

Mar23 {Bllaciscil Capirat P, Lrg=s |EOTovvings 33308 1522 sl B

Mar-13 Hlncksod Capitzl P, Led== EBIDTA Lem 1677 w3,

Mar33 Blacksoll Capal Put, Lidvs Won-Cument Assois 1750 17,102 452,

W23 | Btacksoil Capital Pve, Lidee (Cuerrenr Assers other than Dcbiors 19931 19.356 €5,

L}

ar23 Blacisoil Capial P, Ligee | PE0190S 163 thar E80 o1 29,498 X 0|,

par- | Aris Pk B 2 Worth Jﬁj}ﬁi 1343} clﬂr

hiar-21 A e Bank Lid" Mot wrth 9358 9,08 A7y

Mar-2% Azxis Bank Lid* Net TOL ]| as) e

Mur-13 Aals Bank §rd o Worth 4550 A 884 el

Mop-73 Muls Bank Trde Net Tanoihle Nepsorth 4349 4,830, 430 ("

afar-23 Axis Bunk Ldi ot TOL 1310 6,47 152 |
*Ehlferenes an account of book chosing boine dane sub o submleglpn of o bk 1

=* Yatrs Online Limited Comsolidaied. * Yatra Online Lowited Srandafone and # Yatra For Butings Private Limiced "

{This apace hay bewn lnienilonclly feft Akl




Yatra Oallng Limlted (formerty known as Yorma Ouline Private Limiled)
Notes to the lidzted finoncial 1 for the yenr eoded Mareh J1, 1023
tAmaunt in khy, evcrpt per share duts and aumber of shares)

11, Revenue from upmninx;s

111 Dlsmgyregadan of revenus

Lo the fodlow ing tables, revenue K dsaggrerated by prodoct ope
Rieveaue by Product rppe -

Year ended paych 31,

un 32

Air vicketing (Refer smte | below) 17400 §1,50%
Hriet & Packnggs 14,456 5121
Ot werviesm . 1543 1,462
Other oprrailoy Lo
Advrrustag fovmiue 4,217 1719

I5,01% 19807
Hong | During M citrent yeor, in rspest of Ineentive recttvabile from GDS providar, the s i (hat 11 is highly probubic that the Group will commply she prescribed conflilions and a
igificast reveral m Lhe amognt of camulative reverue mooognicnd will nat ocur wismn the unesrainly aszecizned whli the virable considemon v y resoloed amd dingly, the Growp hao
rexmpnised rﬂmr.' amouniing |o THEL 1860 py amirad asses, (varch 31, 202 2: TSR WU, ¢ ropontimalsy for actun] avdine nskets sald over the tolal austiber of airhoe tickets 1o be sold over the toom af
b i f conirect Mien, slovr the cecipt of coasidoation is oomd dan 13 hcken sepment threthalty as pecified. The Growp avpeets to mect remainies
mnd:llm by March 1|, 1014 P mll:ing the varahle cosiming mount
Thee G roy ham apphad e maost llldy amemnt thethod ro atnn:u: the varishis comaderazion 25 il wodves sy sulcome
==[NR W0 beaing o o 1t it 4 \n provigas year bul pol mecognlied du 1o he bk
Advrrtinmg rovanue primarly comprso cl‘.nd-r:rlulu revenie xd five Bor Bclitsing welalie socess to a tavel imnno: sompanks
23.2 Comoract balances
Confragt llﬁlh
A contrag) asert i the Hght to . in axchange for services forad to the and right to Weration s condimonal oo somethung other ihan the passage ol e,
Contract assets primanly elale to the Group's rights o congideraton (mam travel supplicrs io cxchange for services that the Graup hay ransfored o the traveler when thal righl is
condnienal on the Group's futiic periormance. The contract zawry are tranglemmed to meavatdes when e ights 1o i, become ditional. This uwsunlly gecurs when the

Girgup Sslics an fmvoice 1o the travel meppliery once ihey confirm of achwevement of tagats. The Group expras o meet pending conditions in one year and renlise mest of tha cootrect

asgel nmoLnt.
B r

March 31. 2013 Mtarch 31, 2012
Conlract Asscls 1,506 !

Changei In conlruet asaris dre s follovws:

Moreh 31, 2023 Murch 31, 2012
Balaser ot the beginning of the year 1 &
Revenwe recogrisad during the yoard 1,906 1
Invoices rised during (he year b _ (6}
Balance ut the ead of the yer 1,904 1

® Refer (o para 211 = Mote | obove for details aboul contract assets far the yoar cudad March 35, 2023
Contrad lahHite

A comract habelity ia the shligation to Innsfer services e a cusiomer for whick the Grogp hes received consideration {or m amspnt of comsidomiion is dua) from the customer.

Contrart linhllttees promotily relate Lo the consideral ived fram for trave] booklings in advance of Lhe Group’s performanse obligntions which is clessified as “advance
from euslomens”, and conldormina alincated to customer leynlty programs amd advance reeetved §om QDS provider for bookings of airline tiekers in fulure which is defored, end
which I5 clossified a5 “deherred revemic”.

March 31, 2623 Melarch 3L, 2022

Advence Fremn cusgemoer (refor to Mote 1) 5171 5,208
D forred revemue (refer te Mote 20Y 457 2452
Total Contrac GbiliFs 5,628 7592
As of Apcl [, 2022, INR 5,208 Apeil 1, 2021: INR 5,250) ol ad idarati ived fromn for irmve] bookings was reported within cenirast lahiiities, TNR 3,743

{vlmck 31, 2022: TNR 2,192) of which was opplied to reveatue and TNR 3| {arch 31, 2022: TNR 127} was pefunded o customicrs. As al Moreh 11, 2023, the balance, melpdey
amounte furher received, was INR 5,171 ( biarch 31, 2022: INR 5.208),

Na wformation i dinbsed st ranainlog performanee shigalond s AMarch 3, 2023 and Morch 2022 that have an ariginal eapeeted dumtzon of ome pear or ke, as oliowed by Led
AS 115




Yatry Onllne Limited (formerly known s Yolra Online Privace Limigedy
Notes ta the i I B ial st; for the yoar caded March 31, 2020
{Amaent in lakhe, everp] per shate data and cumbser of thires)

23, Qher jncorhe
Year ended Maceh 31,

21 2022
Imenss income:
- Bank depours 136 3%
- Otherse 35 104
Lnhlity o Jonger requured to be paid® 1330 1,243
Ga on sale of property. plan and equipient {oct) . a8 19
Uitrvinding of discount on olher Gnancial assels 33 a:
Cuin o0 Iominstion’ ren cancesshon of leases™* 1] 3y
Forcpn muchsnge prin {not) k5] B
wlscellancous lncome &7 12
’ 1,74 PR
*Linbility no longer reruired to b: pald rep trile payahles, tha through the eapiry of lime, 1he Group dors ool conskder eny legal obhgamion

**Giai on tenminEtion/ rent concestion of leases moome inclode TR Mit (Marek 31, 2022, 74] pain on svcount of sl eonecession ocomTing @ 3 dreet conseruence of the Covid-19
panidemic,
#Interest income on othen include Miaes! income on Inan ghae 1o foe venlure of TNR N3 (Marck 3§, 2022 TNR 42),

24, Emplnyee heaedlt sxpense
Year ended Mamh 36,

Salarles and bonus 8,673 TAZT
Comribution 1o provident a0d other fimd 7 i
Sroff weliare expenees 3ol 188
CGrmyity experse (refor ta note 33) 12 i3
Share tased paymenl expeniscy (refor 1o notc 41} 1343 1,938

10,901 9,761
15, Deprechation oud smortlmon

Yer ended darch 3,
7] 2022
Depreciation frefer 1o noic 5) 142 144
Ameniization {rofr fa pole §) 1,135 2,051
Depreciation of nghr of wee asses (q¢for 1o note 43} 551 fl1
Tolal 1018 2408
26, Finance eosts
Year ended Mareh 31,
p{irk] w2z
lnierest on borrawings.
-on bank : Kad &
Lolrsest ob Jemse linblicy 34t 434
Unwinding of discount on other financzal lakiliny 319 41
Lntcrest on lale depaci of taces 32
Bank charges 285 49
241 995

27, Ciher exprnss
Year ended March A1,

. 2023 L]

Commission mil descourry ETEY 1,139
Rent ] 1%
Rales & thyes 144 122
Repairs and mainenoee

-Blulding 25 %

-Crhers M6 28
Ink: Loy technology and Jealh 1645 145
Trovelling and cooveyance 298 19
|cyyal and profeasinnal ™ 1645 1132
Allowanee for doubliful sdvances {refer note 12) IER 13
Aflowance for doubifis] piter Boanca) assels (reier note 10} 7 -
Bad detns wriltern-ofT agd allowarice for credit impaired recesvables (refor note 13} 115t 2452
C35R exprodivure** . 1L
Trsurance kX 27
Ouisourcing fes ] 03
Payrcnl getewry md alber charges 3976 2,564
Miscellancous expensei 231 308
Tarzl 13,403 7613

# Miszcllenalin capense inthnde INR Nif (Yecch 31, 2022 11463 an account of reversal of services expert fom India scheme ( SELS) receivalle.

273). Audltors remunernilon
Year endasd March 51,

Ad auditor 2023 2022

Stalulory audit 10l .00}

Tax asydit 3 3

In maher copacities

Ontier Scrvaces® 75 148
179 pad )

*inchudes listing related expenses.




Yutra Gnline LimHed {formerly known 25 Yaita Online $riste Llmited)
Potes 10 the B i1 {1.1]
(Amaunt In lakhs, except per share duta and aumber of Dured)

for the year ended March 31, 2021

“*Dietall of C5R exprsdiiure: ¥ eur ended Mareh 31,
202 naz
) Grovs smenns requited 19 be spav by the Craup during the peod - 19
b) Amaunr approscd by the Board 1o be spent. during the period - 19
¢ Ameun! spent during he year ended In cash __Inemsh
11 Const ruction noqrisilion ol any assel - -
i On pucpeses pthoy than (i) obove e
ot Datails relared $o spesd / wnpent ohligations: Year enderd Murch 3¢,
2013 22
i} Conteibutlon to Public Trum - -
i) Comritasion to Charitabie Trust jor education and rural development - 19
i} Amzumt spend by company el - “
) Unspent omaount in reloion 1o:
- Ongoitg project .
- Other than Ongaing project - R

Desulls af ongolag project aod other than cngoing profect =

Ampoust reguored .
Incaseof 5. 135(6) [Ongotag Project) Opening Balace 1o be spem during m":gﬁ 405 Cloing Balanee

the vear! period
Momh 3, 2023 - - - -
Mlesch 3, 2022 - 19 . 15 .

i

Adno gt required

In cascof S. 135(5) (Other than nogoiy Project) Opening Balhoce  to be spent during m“;‘;‘f;: g ey sing Futance
L the year/ period A 2

Much 31, 2023
Murch 31, 2022 N




Yatra Online Limited (foraiedy kniowvn ps Yarras Online Privare Limited)
Mofes fo 1he consolidated fipanclal statcroents for the yoar ended March 31, 2023
{Amount in Jakhs, cxcepr per share data and number of shares)
18, Inconie taxes
a) The major companents of income tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are;
Year ended March 31,

2023 Iuzr

Tax Expense:
Currend income WX expense 507 132

507 132
Dreferred tax:
Qrigination and reversal of temporry differcneecs (52} 0
Deferred Loy pxgrnsefibenediny (§2) 10
Toral income tax expeases as reported In statement of profit and los 455 l=SE=
b} Rzconcilintion of tax expense and accounting profit multiplied by Lx rate of each jurisdiction in which the Group operates:

Year ended Masch 31,
2023 1022

Profiti{oss) for the year 763 (3,079
[Beome WX expense 455 152
Profit/{toss) hefore [hcome taxes 5214 {21927
Expecied L% expense At SWILLOrY income WX rale 27 (1.048)
Nan deductible expenses 190 170
Uilization of previously unrerognized mx losses 4 (131}
Current year fogses for wlhich no deferred tnx asset was recognized . 3a9 LI585
Change in unzecognised wempomry differences ' 2 609y
Qthers ' ' {16) 15

455 152

|
The Group's (a ralzs ranging berween 25:1? %% to 26.D% ta for the March 21, 2023 {March 31, 2023 251 7% 1o 31.2% |, that has been nppiwld o profit or loss For
d ination of expecied mx

.

¢) Unrecopnlzed deferrcd tax anety
Deferted wx assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items

r

Partieulars Morch 31, 2013 plarch 31, 2022
Dreduesible lemporary differerees 1207 3p3%
Tax kass carmry forward 25857 30,290
Toral 29.064 11,915
—

T the Growp, there are few subsidiaries for which oo deferred lax assets have beca recopnised on deductible empomry differences of INR 12,405 (March 31, 2022 12,164)
and tax losses of TYR 76,174 (March 31, 2022: 75,185) and unabsorbed depreciation of INR 23,359 (Mareh 31, 2002: 23,445), a3 it is not probable that maable profit will be
svailnble in ncar funwe apainst which these can be utilized. Tax losses sre svoilable as an ofTsel 2gainst furere taxable profil expiring a1 various dates thrangh 2031 and
unabsorbed tlepreciation is avallable indefinilely for offsetring agminst Funuwre mxable profie.

Recognleed deferred tax assets and liabilitics
Dreferred tax asscis are anribuuble © the Mlowing -

Morch 31, 2023 March 31, 2622

Propeny, plant and equipment & intnpible assets 32 35
Trade and other reecivables 41 23
Employee benefin 20 27
Provision For expenses 1 -
Deferred tnx asset | 85
OC| gratity i3 [
Taota! deferred tas pesel (A) 107 96
Deferred tax liabfites zre nttrlbutable 1o the followlng -

Property, plant and cquipment & intangible assets {71} (1135)
Total deferred tax Hability (B) (71} 111%)

Net deferred 133 avsel{liabllity) (A-B) a5 {1




Yalra Ooline Limited {formerly Xnown 25 Yatra Online Private Limited)
Notas to ghe ¢ (\dated fi lal stxt v for the yenr vnded March 31, 2023
{Amounl [ lzkhs, ¢xcept per share data and namber af shores)

AMavement In lemporayy dilTereaces durlng the year:

Fartdculars Palance 45 on Balance us oa
March 31, March 31, 2022
22
Cpening Balance {1 1
Tox income during the year recognised in profit or loss 52 (20)
Tax expense during the yoar recognised in O] i -
Clusing balance M {19}

30. Earninpsf (loss) per share

Dosic eaening/ (loss) per share emounts arc coleylnted by dividing net profil o luss Jor the year svirbutable to ondinaty equity holders by the weighted svermpe number of
ordinary shares culstonding during the year.

Dituted caming/ {0ss) per sharc ameounts ore calculated by dividing the net profit or loss sttributable 1o ordinary equity holders by the weighted average oumber of ordinary
shares outstoruling during the year, . .

The following reflects the income and share data wsed in the bmsic aod diluted loss per sbare computalions;

Year ended Mareh AL,

N 222
Eaming’{Loss} auribymmble to ardinary sharehoklezs 163 [EXVE
Weighted avernge number of ondinary shares outtanding during the year 112,700,437% 11163,819
Werghted average number of ordinary shares oursanding during the year afier split of |
shares ine INR. 1 eech (Refer nole 15a) ' 112,760,437 11),638.193
Dasiv Eamings'{ loss) per shore 0.62 {2,¥6)

Dituted Eamings/(loas) per shore o . 059 2.76)




Yatra Callag Limbied [formarly kwawn as ¥'atra Onlloe Privaie ClmHed)
Noles o the Odated fi ink for the yenr coded Marck 31, 2023
{amioon] n sk, crcept per ghare data and number of shares)

19 Segmenl Informarion

Fuor puIp the Group is ized o ines of business {LOAS) hased on its poducts and services and has three E juned befow, The LOBs offir difforont
priducis and serviess, and are manged scparsichy e the nature of products and? or methods ysed bo diseibute the sorviens e dm'etm For each of these LORS, the Chicf Eaecitive Dibcer
(EQ) reviews infemial i reports for mabitg dodss ruhlad b peTi lurion and Tercicn. Thus, the CED i constrund wo be ihe Chief Dporating Deciclan Maker
(COOM) The CODM ures Adfusted Margin, n non NI AS megsure, 1o asssts sepment profitabilieg and in deciding how 16 alloeaic and o trg por The Adjustcd hlagin
& arvived a1 by {i) addmyg back cunomer induccment costs mokading incenlives. Isitiem st and loyaley program e, which ae cecordes 2s 2 reduction of rovenue, imd
{ti) reducmi service coss, Fom e ‘Reveitus a5 per IND AS - Rendering of senvices.”

The lollowing summary describes Gic cperations meach of the Growp's reporable segments:

1. Adr Tadeeting: Through intemet, mubike based placform and call-coiters, the Groop uund:s the Facility 15 book and gzrvice fiemational and damestic sir By 1o wliimate cugsmers thrmogh
BC {Bud el 3. Business 1o 15r FRZE) and DIAYC {Hus o B 1w } chasnrls.

2. Totels ond Packages: Tlwough an iuermet avd sohlle hownl plufisem and cill-ceniers, e proup provides holway pacrages and bordl reservations, For ntemal reparting purpose, e revenue
relaied 1o Awline Ticketing issued 21 3 companent of group developed holiddy packape |3 assigned 10 Hotel and Package segmest and ls recardelt on a gross basts, The hatz! reservitions form
ntegral part of the haliday packapes md, accardingly, is weated ac ang reporicble segrom due 1o similmites in e aatyme of service.,

3. Oibet servaces pramcily inelude the incsne Emm sale of mil 20 s tekely and ncome ﬁ'um H'EII]I.I ferreeandlng services, The Qther sorvices do not wmset amy of the quandiazive (hrabolkds 1o be a
lrpumhlc srgmenit for any of e periods o i hese ladzred Fnancial \ | has this as U reporzhle sepment and dischosd it separazely, tince
the believas that lnfrmation shoul fie segmomt woukd be wsefl) (o users of the lidotzd Snaociol

During e vear ended March 31, 2023, the managennny has made cotals chmges in the presensation of segment infoemation, among, whet maticrs, to whgn with revens, changzs in the isternal
managemend trperis Theme clianges incude {2} mnudnn ol‘ Revenie as por lmi AS [rom rendering of torvices 25 starting palnl tn the Zozmel informanon ingead of ‘Segment revemue (where

Scgment cevenas was amived gl aler adding bock o Bofuitition coal to R s pea Ind AS), {h) change in manner of | i il 4]
conscguential changes o pressnotion of reeoncil@tlon, and () change in 1 of segment prufiLobllity measure from *sogment reslt” 1o Mjn:lui Mamm The manngement hat alsn
made cormesponding changes in the segmert information for the yeans ended March 11, 2022 nnd'\llmh3l 2021, A from the revisians i ihe § i 1 waed, thare fa na

changz in the: profitahiley measuse tha i wsad by ic CODM fat making decinans.

Informalion allaul Regortabir

Arporinble segrisnts
Alr Thelieting Holett 3nd Packaye Dihers Gervies Tuial
Yenr erded Mareh AL, Year ended Aarch 31 Yeor endod Marth 31 Year endod March 3.
2023 32 firri ) 2012 023 ' pirr ] _20¥Y I 2013

R 12 per D AS - Rendering of services' 17,500 11,504 4456 3431 1543 1 A8 37 18.088
Cusiomer [nducement and zoquuiion cosa FLELx] 10,604 2,613 23717 I 153 25428 13,136
Service coul - . i4.448} {13211 - - (6,246 {1521}
Adjusied Margln 43333 .k 10,648 iR 2l LY (K134 TR 29704
Other opoming iicomer 4217 1719
Onber incame 1.731 2074
Customer Ind nnd Hinob costs [ ded as 2 reduction of 125425 {13131
Personmol ppensas : {10,901} 19,7854
Marketlnp and sates fon xp {364 {1241
Dt opefating erpmses {13,403) {7850
Finance costs 2.1 1995)
Drepreciation and amortization (1LE28} (2505}
Lasing end relared eapenses (136) (558)
Hhare of profit £ tluss) from joint veohre - 48
Exceptivia] ilema 14 i
Profit{lors) belfore 1ax 1318 {1526}
Thx cxpense A58 152
Proflliloas) far the year 763 [JJ‘!H=I'

*There wete oo inter-sepment fevenus during ihe year ended March 1, 2023, Maorch 31, 2022, This amount consiues of 'rvenue from satome) enstomer ondy.

o Other operating mesme prmoanly comprises the 3ds enusemeont income o hagnng udvetusanutts onoln intemet web-slecs, income fram sale of coopons and vouchers ond income fmm
Laerfitaling webnfte focess 12 avel & The operations da Bt metf any of the g holds 1 be a repartable sagment W any of tie periods peesemxd m these
comsoflduled faaneial starments.

Aty and llabilifies arq nol bbmilified to Aty reponable scghunic, sice te Group wics tem h by acrass and, Iy, the flanirg brelieyis thar it is nol practiczble

I povide segmen disclosurcs relzfing to Wigl asset and Babillvies,

Wotwi: =For purpasss of reporting (0 e CODM, cortain prompbing oxpmassy ncludiog upfront cash e, looaliy prog copts e indh and lsition costs Br

prumolms Irxnw:m am:-ssmws booking plodiorms, which are teporied as o reduction of rvenue, 2re sdded back 10 the respesiin qmmlmenue hﬂ: anef marketing and wakes progiobian
Fat i wilh Lnd AS, sueh exp e ded as @ reduchion from the respective revemic fings, Therefore, the ] Juydes thse eny oty the

:qxruvesrgmuu mcnu: lizes 2nd adds them 1w the markering trd e p W h fintloded unde Unallocated opemcs).

Reconeliation af Lnformallon on Reporiall e Seymenls cevenys to the Company*s lotal fesenne

Fartlcolars Toial
Yeor eaded Morch 3E
. ar 0613
Revenue 1 pet IND AS - Rendesing of sorvipes 33,799 18,088
Cher aperaling income 4217 1.71%
Tatal Revanue 35,016 19,8507
Geographical inforniodon:
Given (hal company's producs asd cervices are avalinhin on 3 technolagy pladomn To phabally, uenly e neoasry inft b 10 rack accurato geogrphical facation af
Customers i ot Hailsble,
M Hezets are disclosed based on k¢ physical kcanion of the assets ;
Nan-Curreny Aoy
Tndin 11,886 11413
Tatal 518G 1413
" N d nbove reps. pland and <qui and B Pl mscils, fphl-of-uie assois, capdal wark i progress and gadduall.
Mafor Cintowers:
Corsidatng Wie noture of business, customers narmally inchide [sdrviduals ond busiess T Further, none af the corporale and other customers accounl for morg than [0% ot mose of i

Kiroup's tevenuss tn any of i bwa year's presantnd
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{Amounl in lakhs, except per share data snd number of shares)

31. Companents of Other Comprehensive Loss

Thy following e summarizes the changes in the accumulaley balances for each compenent of aocumulated Other Comprehensive Loss attribulable 10 the Group.

Year endcd Maorch 31,

2023 2022
Actuarlsl loss/ (guin) en defined benefit plan:
Remgeasurement (gain) loss on defined benefil plan (refer note 33) 103 4
Tncome lx expensef (gain) (refer note 28) | -
Tatal 104 4

32. Capital maragement

For the purpose of the Group's capital management, capital includes issued capital, share premium and atl other equity reserves suribulabie to the equity holders. The
primary chjoetive of the Company’s capital management is 1o eosure that i mointains & strong eredit rating and healthy capital ratios in onder 1o suppon its business
and maximise the sharcholder’s value,

In order 1o achieve this overall objective, the Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure (hat it meets financial covenants attached to its
interest-bearing loans ond bomowings that form pan of ils capital structure requirements. Breaches in the Rnancial cavenants could permit the bank to immediately
call interest-bearing louns and borrowings.

During the Financial year ended March 31, 2623 & Fnancial yeor March 31,2022 the Group had raised sddilional capin! from hotding company {refer to Nole 15).
During the inancia] year March 31, 2023, the company jnd laken a Beioring fcility from several banks {refer to Note 16) |

Thent: was a breach of comgliance with some of the debl covenans of the certiin finoncing arrangement with the benk. The Parent Company and one of o subsidiary
factoring debt {facility contains certain fi ial covenants relating 10 unencumbered cash and cash cquivalents to be equal 1o 12 months wailing cash bura, positive
nel worth and Lotal operating liabilitics should not excefd twice tangible net worh, Al March 31, 2023 there was 2 non-compliance in relatiop to one of the detd
covenants, i.c. “wml operaling liabilitie should not exéeed twlce tangitte net worth™, The Group securesd a waiver from the lender in this respeet subsaquent ta March
3t, 2023 on Mav 17, 2033 (March 31, 2622: ne breach of compliance with debt covenant). $ince the waivers are received belare approval of the financial statements
for issue {1, August 30, 2023}, it is considered as an adjusting event as per nd AS {0, Consequent 1o such walver, the debt facilities amounting to INR 2,193, which
alherwise should have been classilied as current if such waiver Fom lenders were not received for breach of 2 malerial provision of debt facilities have been classified
as non~cument 2l March 3, 2023. By viriug of cross default provisions in other debt facilities availed by the Company and ils subsidiaries, these debt facilities became
payable on demand. These include debi facilities avatled from Hiacksoil Capital Private Limited, Black Soil India Credit Fund, Mak Capiwl Fund, 'LP, N+1 Capital,
[DFC Firsl biank ond Federal Bank. The Company and its subsidiarics obtained waivers rom all of these lenders subsequent ta March 31, 2023 during May, 2023,
Accordingly, such defavlis did not have any impaci on the Company’s liquidity position, future cash flows and its going ¢ongern assessment

The Ciroup manages its capital structure and makes adjustmenits 1o it in 1ight of changes in economic conditions and 1he reguirements ol the Anancist covenants. To
maintain or adjust the capilal structure, the Company may adjus! the dividend payment to shareholders, retum capiial to shareholders ot issue new shares. No changes
were mede in lie objectives, policies of processes during the yoar ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022

The Group monilors capiial using & gearing mtio which is debt divided by agrreiate of total equity and nel debi:

March 31, 2023 Mareh 31, 2022
| bearing be ings (Note 16) 15308 3,586
Less ;cash and cesh equivalenis (Note 14) {4,690) (7.385)
Net debt 10,617 {4,000)
Equity share capital 1,145 1L119
Oiher equily 15,807 8974
Total Equlty 16,952 10,093
Gearmgralio (Net debi { tola] equity + net debt) 38.51% {65.63%)

(This space hos been intentionally lefi Mlank)
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Notes to the consolidated Anancial statements for the year caded March 31, 2023

{Amount In lakhs, except per share dain and number of shares)

13, Calenlation of Employment benefit plan

21 Nefined henelit nlans

Particulars

Defined benehi plan

Liability for compensateil ibsences
Total Habllty

Net unfunded linbUity

March 3], 2023 Jarch 82
712 £
255 330
257 1.024
712 694

The Ciroup's gratuity scheme for its employees, is a defined benefit plan. Gratity is paid a9 a lump sum amount 10 employess at relirement
or termination of employment at ao amount based on the respective employee’s eligible salary and the years of employment wilh the Group,
The benefit plan is parlially funded. The following 1able sels out the disclosure in respect of the defined benafit plan,

The measurement dale for the Group's defined benefit gramily plan is each reparting period.

Movement In ablipation

Present value of obligatian at beginning of year
interest cast
Current service cost
Agcluarial (gain)/ loss on obligation
-£CORUmic assemplions
-demographic assumptions
- experience assumplions
Benefits paid
Presznt value of ohligation at end of year

Movemnent In plan assets*

Fair value of plan assels at beginning of the year
Employer contributions

Benefils paid

Earmning on assels

Actuarial gain/ (Ioad) on plan assets

Fair value of plan asscts at end of the year

“plan asseis represents investment made by the Company i LIC funda

Unfunded llability
Current
Non current

Urfunded tiebllity recognlzed In stnterment of financlal posillea

C ofcost r istd ko profit or Loss

Curvent service ¢os|
Net interest cost
Cxpected return on plas assels

Amount recognised io other comprehensive licame
Actuarial joss/ (gain} on obligalign®
*Refer note 31 for the movement during the year.

March 11, 2010 March 31, 2012
92 819
k7 39
8BS 105
{37 -
n {6)
143 1l
{219y (178)
795 192
March 31, 2023 ¥arch 31, 2022
98 118
(23 {28)
5 7
1 ]
-1 38
March 31, 2023 AMarch 31, 2022
47 356
a5 338
742 6594
Yeor eaded March 31,
2023 022
B3 105
27 33
112 138
Year ended March 31,
2023 2022
103 4



Yairs Online Limited (formerly knawe 23 Yatra Online Pdvate Limited)

Notes to the consolidated financial staternents for the year ended Morch 31, 2023

(Amount ip Inkhs, excopt per share date gnd number of shares}

The principal octuarial assumptlons wsed far estimating the gronp's defined benefit obligatlons are set out below:

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Discouni rate T 5.45%
Fulure salary increase 5.00% 5.00%
Average expected [ulure working life {Yeurs) 1.78-3.45 |.56-3.85
Retirement soe (Yaars) 58 58
A LALM® (20(2-14) [ALM* (2012-14)
Monality table Ultimste Ultimate
Withdwaural saba (944
Ages
Upto 30 years 3% 22-28%
From 31 10 44 veara 61% 57-65%
Above 44 years H% 0-21%

*Indizn Assured Lives Monality (2012-14) Ullimare represents published monaliry able vsed for mortality assumption,

A qoantiwtlve sensitivity onalysls for significant asspmptions s shown below:

Mareh 31, 2023 March 3, 2021
1) Tmpact af the change in discount rate
a) Impsct due to inerease of 0.50 % {10} (9)
b) impact due to decrease of .50 % 11 1o
b) Impact of the change io salary Increase '
1) Tmpact due to increase of 0.50 % ' Il 10
b) Impac due to decrease of (.50 % (i (1)

|
The sensitivity analyses above have been delermined based on'a method that extrapolates the impact on the defingd benefit obligation as a
resuli of rensonable changes in key assumptions occuming m the end of the reporting period. These analysis are based on & change in a
significant assumption, kecping all other assumptions consianl and may nol be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit
abligation as it is unlikely that changes i assumptions would occur in isofation of one another.

El

The following payments are expected contributions to the delined beneflt ptan in future yenrs:

March 31, 2023 Morch 31, 3022
Year | 387 403
Year 2 135 131
Year 3 69 73
Year 4 50 40
Year 5 49 35
Year 610 182 131
Total expected payments 872 £33
b} Defned contributlon plans '
Durlng the year, the company has realised the following 5 in the 5 of Profit and Loss (refer to note 24)
Year ended March 31,
2023 022
Employer's conlribution to Employees' Provident fund 367 3n
Emplover's conlriburion to Employces' Siale nsurance - 2
Employer's contribution to Labour Wel{bre Fund 106 ]
: 473 k1l

Cade an so¢lz} securiry, 2020

The Code on Social Security, 2020 {"Code’) relating 1o employee benefils during employment and posi-employment benelits received
Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of Indis, However, the date on which the Code will
comve inlo effect has pol been natifizd and \he final rulesfnterpretnlion have not yet been issued The Company will assess Ihe impact of the
Code when it comes inio effect and will record sy relaed impect in the period the Code becomes effective. Based on a prelimioary
asscssment, the entity believes the impaet of the chaape will nol be sigoificant,
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- MR 1,100 boae arwrar hving ks ot of BNR 839 (Moreh 35, 1022 THR |66 baving fan 1popac of TR 344] mopresonis wmnome 3 demasd Far 1he perlod Apnik 2007 (o March 2019 The Girmop ha filed
cppeal befbne tia C1T {A), The bt agemment beivrves ihat the 1l bood of the ctie'appes! going Lo faver of the Company Ls probable asd sccordingly b oot dered any g Jrgaitill thid demasd o e

eotsalidaed finncis! rocnanis,

= Eeryree o womdi wod servion tas demand i lodes:

< THR 15,651 (March 32, 2022: INR 15,651) reprezents seviee i demand for e period Apeil 207 1o Tue 201 7. Tlie Conmpary brss file) apeals brfote CESTAT, Chondigauh al TN, 39 {ALuch 31, 2028
IHE Hilj reprooms dispute of $orvice L refind which o perabiag bt “The Commussioner Appeals, Crroml Excyse & GET, Cungrom, Heryzad™, The company bos Sled appealy before CESTAT, Chashigarh.
The reanngement belicvem thu e ielleed of te cointzppenls golng i Gneod of e Company it probabbe mmd, scooedimgly, Sos nol eoneideres) ey prowialon g this demand o e comolacd fironoal
Haltmomi,

-PNR 241 thdurch 11, 2022 MR 2.4 )4} represets servce tas dernand for te period Kewember 2005 1o hianch 2005 ag per o daied Feluary 27, I3 7. The ponpasy ba Blind appel befiore the irbbuaal
aguitst the neder af Conmshone {Appels). INR Nil (donch 31, 2023- INR 4] rpresents gocds o tarnee tmx dopsnd br b peesd Brancal yeor 2007-48 o H2D-2 1 45 per sl cane pate maeved. In few
o, The company b filad mply befare Lhe g aialhenry Th beedicn ey 1hat ther likel e of the cacfopm| parg 18 Bvor of the Compeny ix prbable knad scoondinply o ool anoeded
oy pross)on agalow this demand 1o e cosoluiared Roaposl 1t eempts

«[MR A0 yMargh 31, 2007 INR 29} rebioets thaw cure nates romgyed for guods amd servce gy gue 1o diferenee 1o i coimed azzsnst iopal refleuing Lo GSTR 24 for the poriond of finmcial yer 2007

1% .Ther company kns Blad reply befiste the mlruticanog mathor ry The manapemces elicers thal tbe Whehend of e s sppeal poim i favee of te Compegy 13 piobable md aoconlngly hea nat consadersd any
pronTiion agmm thee drmand 1o the ovelidmal finasciel vatemenia.

iy Purzuan) v b avdet davd M.nmh D 2021, corp ingahvency i provess Wi Litia o agauntt Ezeego Ong Trawd g Tours Liostod §*Exocpe”) uader the Jmolyondy and Bououpey Code 2016 {he
HBC) e Resolunion P l wix epy |, Duting the il reees, Exoggm, th'ungh the Roohrilon Profeaicaal, A 3 deaemd sotico sgmes te Paronl Compmy md ooeoio aubielianes on
30, 2031 wdcpendemly o diay prynemt of on I and baabsiiny § e [NE L 700, The Growp repflag o sich of e demesl wioey on December 1), 2021 mirmating 1k te
amoant elumnt by Faeego 18 cmunrym 15 ek of yeestams of the Gmuu Suhnqnmdv ] Cawpnny Petmeon was Glod in foouzry 2037 onder Sechon 9 of Lhe 1EC jorkany infuativs of the cofporate imodvensy
Yeolution procisy dgatist The Group far e lative defhnlt g to MR 2313 (lochud g itiierent poyable). Thre matter bs ey proding with the Natonal Compory Lie Tribaml The Groop bos filed

Tt et 1 The company pelibony oad hag 1 rearooble Gl o dlfu! tbr procelings.

¢} Lrdve commimyent - Group a1 lessee
A Iesaor, the Group's obi arizing fnn Hon finble lexse are maichy redatod 1 b aPAngeten Gy o] eeie
Torre wane sy Lhiom ket it Atable Iome eonumn deng m m March 4, 2027 aeed fluuh 31, 2022,

Druring (he penod wnded Morch T, 2023, INR 10 thlarch 35, 2023 TNR 1R) waa recogrized i3 o i under olher evpentes in the contathdaind stnlement of profil ar lod 10 petpect of thart term bnan
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¥otra Onllae Limlied {farmiechy kooww g1 Yoien Oatlee Privote Lirdiedy
Neaee 10 the comuoldal ed Naanedal satemenls for the year emded March 11 2013
[Amoual ln lakbs, cxem per share dalz cod momber of skores)

37, Retaed pany dlalomare

1) Name of 1he reloted pariies ub zeiied garty rednilonship

0% Ll irrete hobding compay: Vairy Onlepe, o,
tin) Noidmeg coropany: THCL Travel Hokding £y prus Lingited {formerly bpown o Travel Online (Cypr) Lindtedh
[k Subsidiary companes Yairs Cormurale Hedel Solitwens Fmvaie Limaied

TSI Yarea Privale Limbied

Yt TG Stays Privalg Limukod

Y¥atra Hodel Solutiors Prvate Lumited

¥atra For Business Prvote Lemotad {formierhy knewn ag A Traved Butma Private Liangad| (Domaly knooa a2 Al Trn et Buzean Limated)
Travel Co In Private [Lmited | fetesly kieen 25 Trreel £0,Jn L)

Y112 Crline Frepht Sorvices Prvate Limiled {Subtidiany of Yivd For Busmess Provas Lenlod)

¥ amm Muldhe East LLC-FZ

tiw} Felbowr zubsichans. Yatrz USa LLC

{v} Enuty under comman somrol Axe Corsoldaial OME P Lid
hiubile Exd Travd Mamgemen Commamy Frvale Limsed

v h Toid vemre Adweniurg ared Nature Nereaek {P] Lhl

iva} Ry TrOmagemmem, permstned- Br, Dhnee Shnengs, Whels T i oumg CEQ
Br. hlanch Amdn, Chief Informaton and Techiikogy Offices
r, Al Kigrme Sethy, Chief Flraacial Qficer (framm N 01, 2021 i Sepremiber 22, 10227, Sr. Vs 43 ool Finamce | w.ef Sqitoinker 23, 2021)
wir Rashan Mittal, Chief Fronoed CHHG [ w.e f Seoterrber 3, 2022)
hér, Draman Baira, Cotyssy Secrehry
M. Murlufhara Kadaba, Mo Execttive Direetor jw.e £+ Ootmber 21, 20211
s Mezhim Dhewae, M Dtrectoe {w & € N bt 10, 121}
Mr. Ajay Neravin Jha, Tndependent Direcer (o ¢0 March 14, 20723
Mz Derra Mlisra Hamy, (ndependod Boeoonw o Mad 16, 2022
bir. Rahil Bhasln, fmdeporont Directar {w <. C horch 16, 222y

, B} The lolowing Iy the summary of 1reotacions with relaled parles foc the vear ended Sareh 23 and blzrch 3, 2022

4] Salesporehase of servicot sind rammisdon recelved dpald:

Yeareaded Comminion  Purchase Sole L% U PG paid R Relmbursement of  Tiierenr  Amacs  Aowmo
veceived i A ot ol eaprses Pald Eq amd by  gwad o
n rLpRree ) L related ralater]
b received® parsles OEriks
Ulimme bolding company .
*oua Crline Inc. 3-Mar-1) . - - - - - 142 - . LApy~
31-MmE-22 - - - - - - 1530 - - 10
[ Julws ventoze
Ah e and Mapure Neterh [(P) Lid 1i-Mas-23 . - - - . 1 - 5
H-Mar-22 co. - - - - E . - . -
Felmw untrddiaries
o[ ¥amm USa LLE Jl-Mar-21 - - - - - - - - - a0 -
' J1-Mar23 . - - - . B . - 2] B
Eniity ueder common comrol:
Aso Compelidatad DME Pie Ll 1] Mar 13 - ] . - . . . . R 1M
Fl-pdar-22 - 112 - - - . - - . ¥
Wtitdle East Traved hlacporen 1] Mias-23
Coirpany Private Lol . . _ . _ 3 ot _ P .
Ib-Mar21 . . . - . L - 3 -
SigeHiczl Ioffuecse
| Reeinzicr Retall Lueded 3ahlar-2) - - - - - . B - -
M dlara2 . - . - - . - . E
Reclianee Jion Infocertnen £bd. H-Mar3l - - . - . . - . -
H-Mas-22 - . - . - - - .
Foluoce frduttrne Lomataf A)-Ma-1] . . . R . . . .
31 -Mor-22 - . - - . - -
*Provision G erpaarmieet of Wade retevahle bave been reoordod for INR 38 (hfanth 31, 20332 3R} Cleaing of rade ing ol s of March 1, 2023 1 11 {Mgch 31, 2022 Wil

*= [ncludes odyitmen of MR 273 mld by the Comparny on behalf of wlimate ldmg corpary,
The Compatry b mven eamenlimenn G fnanciol sppor (e 115 Ly molung mub hates canety Yatma TG Srys Fnvese Limlial, Yot Coerporate Hobd Solutions Privar: Lumiind and ¥ au Oplpe Freight Seraces Private Lomitad, e
well ay, Voan given by Yaisa for Busibes Privole Linajer to Y 3l Ofme Frogghs Sarvioes Private £ lmvied




¥uorra Daluae | dmilA [feemercly husmn 20 s Oalioe Frivaie L imied)
Nudes L0 the somvalidated Geame il s1atemeaty Tar Dhe pear ended March 3, 2007
{ A mumt fn bak ks, F1eept pir thare dite nmd nember of iharest

EI0y Thee Fallen Img i e semmary of balanres outcinsliog with relsed pariics for the pear swdal Mapch 31, 2000, Make 21, 2008

3l Bnevmran mude ond rrodved

Yowr ended laoealsharer  Amomet  Relund of exeersof Imntmm Imodmenl Advasce  Hefond of
pending - thare sppBration | omusle iy pending atld wieadu o
allntment oy whuvrt alietricsd  lwmyrds  Tevesimenl
Mant apicetlam
P fpamer
Ialiing estnpany .
TUCL Travel Hokding Cyoen Ui Fl-Mwr-IF A - -
{loemerty koows 2s Trava Qling (€ 3ymn) Limialt 5l-ptar-2t T - - B
NigolNeani Inflerwee
Relame: 2 el Lmmaeal Hedan 13 R _
Hontur £ - - - - -
b} Intrrratipany drpnits
Vear rided Depoall Greem Depanil Emerest
Bequid  fueome
| Jnlmt vowtuse
AchvelLue soe| Matute Hetwerk (P Ld H-hrar-23 0 - | - ™
Jl-Mor-12 25 . AT -

redier v parg |0

1V Rermunerathyn Iy b ey munaperis per vt

= P'reniien ke bt menl un banss fu poual vesbuee have boem pocardod S IR 1D (hiarch T4, 2023 INRTITE Cloung balenee of boans i oo vetiure (e of allowonce) & uf fme 30, 7070 w5 D0 Sk darch 51, 200Y INRWE),

Yeur ended Shortterm Contribotioos ie Prafll Shure  IMreclo Blireciar
emplepee Aellned 1L ] bapd  Slitlay Bemessarill
Feiefll plan hasws  pawment Fran ap|
hir Dhruy S 3L MurTd £ 0 [ [E] -
Fhoiur22 TE - - 1418 - -
Me Wnzieh Amn 3-Mlar-25 m T 15 157 -
T Mar-2? ] ] 194 - -
My Dardan Baa 10-Blu-TF 52 2 - I} .
-Mar-22 a 3 :; .
[Wds A Kiear Sethy AMai-23 o 4 . [*3 -
A ebdeg-2Y L] a &R
Bhr. Suadidliag Kadeba Fl-hiwe-1i - - &
M - - I
s Moo Dhow any 31 AHiar-15 - . 3 .
- . 1 -
M Ay Meavar fha Haxig11 - - 3 12
3 -2 - - | i
(M Deena hyra | L W-Mar2l - - - 3 iz
10Alg.? - - - 1 I
(1. Fohue Rhenn - 3h-hpe23 - - H had
3| hlar-12 - - 1 L
%, Rekan Ml H-die-13 L+ 4 bl .
310t - . .

Note TTa remunrslion w the key mmsazeAl revamd G mr nchude the prenssiots vade b sy amd lerre benefits, 25 By e determined oo an uerwarsh baggs 2 the sumpamyas 2 whols




Yotra Onlloe Limlced (romltr!: Inown ax ¥nten Oatine Private Limited)
Notes 1o e fal far whe yent ended MMorch 31, 2023

(Atopunt In lakhy, eseeps per shire datw onidl nenber of shares)

38, Busloess Camblration

Yaira For Buslness Prt. Lod. (formerty kaown os Afr Trovel Bureas Prvace Limited] (formerby koawn as Alr Trovet Burean Limiced)

Co July 20, 21 7, Pareqt Company ogreed (¢ acquire 2lf of the owisianding shares of Yatra For Businets Py (43 ("ATBY) (formerly known as Ax Travel Bureau
Private Lanised) (formerdy koown d5 A Travel Bireay Limited) pursuant to o Shire Purchase Agreement by and ameny Paent Company, ATB and the seliers
party thereto fihe “Share Purchese Agreoment™].

A part of the share pruchnae spreoment with (e previous ewner of AT, a cottrigeonl considerntion is 16 be paid hased o centain performance conditons of the
sequired bnsines. Ad o \he scquisitisn dale, U fit value of the contingent consideratson was estimuted to be INR 11203

During 1he yoar ended Murch 31, 2019, it was <ati 1 thw the perf wietion will be achicved due to chunge in tudmes conditions snd bepler cash dow
manzgessent, The fair valug plthe contingem consideralion determined during the year ensed Yarch 11, 2019 rellegia chis developmen), amonsat sther Deters and
a remeasuremiont charge b e eocognised throwgh profit or oss.

A reconcilingon of fir value of e g i eration lishiliy s provided below:

Axpl April 1, 2018 047
Ulmrenlieed Gir value changes recognised in prof or oss 4,853
Advance paid* 2
Asar Murch 31, 281% 11,300
Unscadrsed fair value changes recogmived in profin or lass 13,900}
As mi ¥areh 3T, 2010 2000
Finol payment {8,000

Axac March 31,3921 .

'Canlmn:m coRsithetation med of INR B,000) is presented m Stmemen of Cesh dows as faliow

g cash p up 10 the emount of INR 6,10H rocognmed ior the 4,14
arquisi mn—d.:m 2] vahe of the contidgonl consitderation Joss paymen contingem comsderation of INR.

2,000 dwrmg yeor eraled March 3! amy

Op g AcThvities: By cash p for ingenl comuderation in cucess of the apolnt 3,836
that woa mordod on the xquiziion date v —_—
Tatal : 4,008

. (This apace has been tutetifonalfy et dlankl




Yaira Onliar Lunlied (fosmerdy koawn os Yarra Qollse Private Limited)
Noies to the i finsnclal for the yrar endwd March 31, 2023

{Amounl bn lakhy, cveept per share dato anil namber of shage)
3%, Stalulory proop information

Nl Assets Le. Intal Assess minws Share In profit and lese

Sotal lnblities Siaire In viher compivhensire tocome  Shase i lotnd cocprehensive begme
Ay Yool Al % of
As el As%haf conscidated fiher . consoldated eolal
Narae uf the eatlry in the zroop eondalidpied net iNR connalidored INR romprehenyive INR comprehenshe MR
ouscly parnlil and Insg [T lagame
Paremt
Yatrn Onllae Limited (former kaswn ax Walm Onbioe Pobeie Limited)
Balenoes as ot Marck 31, 2023 (155.33)% (26,331) {562 Hp (1447 5% {24) wr19% 4471}
Balences x5 2% March 31, 2033 {21 89)% {22,My 193,53 % (595M [15).661% & 1934H 10 5,550
Subsidlaries
1. TSI Yarra Private Limired
Bulances as at March 3], 2022 {15110 [hly)] 173.35 % 1361 695 % 7 20571 % 1,354
Balancrs a= 2t March 33, 2022 (26.04)%% {3625} (2530 E:l 113,681 | [ERF) ] ki
2. Yaun Corporale llatel Solutlons Privodle
Limiled
Balances as w1 March 31, 2023 1387 % 2368 (2.161% (70 3d1% 14} {11161 (73}
Balgness ps i Moreh 34, 1022 2168 2200 X130 N 4545 % [h) B61)% 1%
3-¥aira Halel Solelons Private Lonie?
{Farmerty koowi ns Desya Ootine Trovel
Distributlon Srivate Limiledy
Balances as ar Morch 31, 2621 5% 11,45] 115,82 % 93 LH % ] 138461 % L3k
Balances as ot March 31,2027 {8 17% (324) {1330)% 410 96,70 Y (4} [EAL:: 3 406
4. Yatra TG Sinys Private Eimium
(Formerly koo ns DLV, Travels Guru Privaie '
Llmlted)
Balaners aa 3t March 31, 2621 4559 4 1790 196,65 028 LAM% {5) 926 % 3
Balurces ax a1 Mach 3, 2022 BE 68 %4 34951 176.05)% 2403 19158 %0 {4 ¥ R8¢ 2,99
3. Yatrg For Postoess Pre. Lid ("ATR")
(Tormorky kmown 34 Aér Travel lgresa Private .
Limnlted} (formerly known ax Air Travel -
Bureaa Limhad) .
Folances ns m Aferrh 31, 2021 13,79% 1,188 143 % 1072 Y OETA % {0 15216 % 1,002
Balgnces os at Mrech 34, 2022 1240 % 127 (L2 31% s 14.56 %2 [£3] (1229 17
& TravelCo.in Privare Limiwd
{formerty known a3 TravelCouIn Limijed) -
Baluseos s a1 March 31§, 2623 0.96 % e (320 51 o0 % - 70 % H!
Babners as 21 Morch 37, 3020 1139 215 {0.54)% it m % - {086} 20
6. Yatea Qnling Freight Services Private
Limiied
Halpneos as ar March 11, 2023 1531 % 2595 (i80.330% {1.147) {69095 H (17315 1,080
Balewes as a1 Morch 3£, 2022 1121 % 1,132 2139 % {2151 938 % {0 T {830)
Jular it w1 par equiry method
Adventure and Nalure Nelwork Pre. LIL
Rolances as & Margh 31, 2023 - - . . - . . .
Elalences 28 8 March 3§, 2031 - - 3507 416 - - {1330% al6
{100y% {16,553y 100%; 761 L (40%) 100% &30
11003 (00094} 100 % (3.075) 1004 ) 0% {1083}

The above amoteits AR pos? churinanen of {nter-company balances axd tRnsactions

40 Micrn, ¥ittnll 30d medlum enlorprives dbcloure

As per the information 2vatlable with te monzgement the i pavahle 1o enterprises covered under “The Mizro, Smalt and Medum Encrprise Development A, 2006 are 28 Tollows:

Farticohrs

March 38, 2023

ki)

[ March 31, 2022 |

4

he prinsipal armount remounlee uepoid ta any suppher as a the eod of sl aetomaing perind
The interss) due theroon remaining unpaid w any supplier o at the end of each accounring penod

The amouent of inferest palbd by the buper in terme of secidon 15 along with i anouns of payment mads ta the suplier boymd the oppointed day
during each aecounling geriod

Tho mmeum of intevest dut and payuble for the period of dobty in making paymien jwhich have boen pald bus bevond the appointed day during Lhe

year) bt withews adding e miorest specified wnder tis Adt.

Tha amoumt of interest sccrued and remming unpid at the end of each sceounting peried: and

The amoum of ferther inlerzst remaining due and payable even in the suceeeding years, urml ouch date when ihe interest dual as gbove are Joutaity

paid 1o the smoll enterprise.

This has been determined on the basis of responses rochved from vendons on apecific confirmation £ought by e Company o this reyands




Yoira Onlloe Limited (formerly Imnwn ns Yatrn Onlloe Privaw Limited)
Notes to the ¢onsolidated i f for the yeur ended Maorch 31, 20223
{Amount In bakhs, except per shure dota and sumhber of shares)

41 Share bosed puymens
I'he Utrimare HoMing Company. Yatra Online, Insc., hos granted s1ock options to cerlain employees of the Company under siock optica plan,

The expente rmoopnised For sripluy s services received during the year is shown in the (ollowiny table:

Year emled March 31,

013 2022
Expense arising from cquity-setiled shere-bated payment tensactions 1243 1,930
Total expense arsing feom share-based pzyment transactions 1,343 1930

Restricted S10ck Unit Plan (RSUYPerformance Stock Unit Man {PS1H
Ultimate hilding company fursuant k2 the "201 6 Pln® bnd sppreved the frang of:

7,277 R5Us gronted. these RSUs would vest over a period of four years in equel quanerly instaliments, vesting period of which will commence from July 41, 20017
with first sucl: vesting on Seprember 39, 207 equivaleny w one-sixieenth of hese RS As and with the last vesting to be done on or betore June 30, 2021,

687,857 Resricted Stack Linits {"RSLs") and out of 687,557 RS Us, 658,509 shares have been granted 1w the empioyees of the Group. These restrcled stock uniis
would commence vesting from July 1, 2020 with first vesdng cquivalent (o equal monthly instaliments over o period of four years, wilh lant such vesting on June 3,
2024,

1,609,934 Performance Stock Units (“PSUs") and ow of 1,609,934 PSLs, 1,581,162 shores have been grnied 1o the employees of the Group. These PSUY i linked
1o the performance of the share price of ultimaie holding company and the wigger price points moge from $1.80 i $10.00.

492,000 R5\Us, out of these 6,58,750 R3Us pranwed 10 employee of the company, vesting of Lhese R3Us woutd conunence from September 4, 2021 with {irst vesting
equivalent to oqua) momhly insralimenils over s peried of four years, with Last such vesting on March 1, 2025, Out of these 29,793 RSUs have been considered vested
on graot daic.

1,280,154 PSUs, out of1hese 1,251,382 PSUs practed 1o cmployee of the company, vesting of these PSUs is linked to tho perlomance of the share price of altimate
holding campany and the g per price points rRnge rom $2.50 to $4.00.

Thiring the peﬁcld ended March 31, 2023, Ultimate Holding Company porsuant to the "2016 Plan" hod epproved a gront of: 649500 RSUs, oul of these 6,15,750
RSUs granled to emplovee of the pany, ing af these RSUs would commence from Sepicmbes 1, 2022 with first vesting equivalent to equal monthly
msr.nllm:nu over o period of faer years, with Inst such vesting on March 1, 2026

During the peried ended March 31, 2023, Ui Holding Company purswant w the 2016 Plan™ hed opproved 3 gramt of: 1,248,185 PSUL oul of these 1,219,413
PSUs granicd w employes of the campany, vesting of Lhese PSUs is linked to the performance of the share price nl’ timate holding coropany and the kipger pree
painis range from $2.50 o 34.00.

During (he pefiod ended March 31, 2023, Ullimnte Holding Company pursuant 1o the "2016 Plan™ had approved-a grant of: 84,000 RSUs, out of these 84,000 R8s
granied 1o emtployes of the company, vesting of these RSUs would cammente from Scptomber 22, 2022 will: first vesting aquivakent tnequal monthly nstallments
over a petind of four years. with last such vesting on Sepiember L, 2026,

Muovements dlu:lu the period i
Thr following wble illustrases the number of shares movements in restricted stack units the year .
Marrh 31, 2023 March A1, 2032
Nu. of sharrs N gf shares
Number of RSUs dinz at the beginning of the vear 2,684,726 L151.9]9
Gramed during the year 1.919.163 1909 632
Repurchased by Parent Company - -
Forfzited during the period! year - -
Expired during the year . 93,737
Yestedfexereised dunng the year 955,607 31098
Vested PSUs oet scttled for employez's tax obligntion™ 130,150 -
Number of RS PSUs outsianding at the end of the vear 35180182 2,684,716

45 per applicable Tax lmws spplicable in Indin, the Company is obliged ta withhold an ameunt Bt an employes's wx obligalion associnted with a share-based
payment and transfer that emeunt {n cash, 1o the tx authorily on the employee’s behalf, Accordingly, during the year ended March 31, 2023, the ultinate parent
comnpany setiled the ramaction an 4 net basis by withbiokling the number of vested PSUs with o feir valie equnl (o 1he manetory valuz of the employee's sy
ohligntion of INR 273 which was puid by the Campany io the wx nuthority on the employee’s behnlf belore March 31, 2023, Tow! wx Jability paid of INR 273 is
recognized as amount recsivable from ultimslc parent company.

The welphied average remaining contractual Jife for RSUs and PSUs oulstanding as at Mareh 31, 2023 was | 82 years (March 31, 2022: 2 25 yrars ).

The mnge of exercise prices for RSU's and PEUs outstanding ot March 3], 2023 is Nif (March 31, 2022: Nil)
During the year ended March 31, 2023, share bosed compensatian cost for these RSU'SPSU's 15 rex ized under p l¢ ing to INR 1,326
(March 3], 2022: | B1E). Reler to Note 24,

Thwe following whies list the nputs 1o the made! used for the years Lthen erded:-

Mareh 30,2023 | March 31, 2023 |
PSLy RSUS |

Weighted average Fair valiue of ordinary share ai the measuremenl date (USD) 038081 1.45.2.70
Risk-fres inlerest mic (25 2.80% 2800
[Expected volatility (%) 45.00%! 45.00%
|Expected life 4 yenrs 4 years
Dividend Yield 0% 0%
Monie Carla Blach-Schole
Model used Simulalion Valustion|

The expected lite of RSU"s ard PSLI's options hes been wken as Lhe vesting period
The expected volmility reflects the ion based on medwn of histarical volarility on the share prices of the similar entitics over a period.




Yaira Online Limited {formacrly known as Yatra Online Private Limited}

Nutes 11 the lidated flnanclal sia Is for the year ended harch 31, 2013

(Amount In lakhs, except per shave data and number of shores)
1016 Stack Opilon and 1ocentdve Plan {the “2016 Plan™)
During die year ended Barcl M, 2018, the ulii holding cowpany p to the "2016 Plan”, granted 197,749 oplions to purchase ordinary shares of the
ultimate halding company. Qut of 197,749 options, 168,888 options were graned to the employecs of the Company. These share options will vest over o period of
four yrary in equal quartcrly instaliments, with fivst such vesting en February 1, 2018 eyuivalent to onc-sixieenth af the 1otal number of stock options and with the last
such vesting on Movember |, 2025,
During the year caded Maecl 31, 2019 . the uliimate holding company pursunnt to the “2016 Plan”, granted 21,769 options ta purckase ordinary shares of the
uliipue hoiding comprny. These shace options will vest ovet a peried of ooe yenr and four moaths in equal monthly installments comenencing from Oist vesiing on
September |, 2018 equivalent to 1/ 161k of Lhe iaual pumber of stock optinns, with the lasy speh vesting on June 1, 2022, '

During the year ended March 31, 2621, the cltimaie holding company pursusnt 1o the 2036 Plan®, gronted 4,66,100 optiovs to purchese omlinary shares of the
ultimate hokding sompany te the cmployees of the Company. These share optione will vest over a perod of Tour years ity equnl quanterly istallments, with 1 such
vesting on Jamary |, 2621 equivalent 10 1/16th of the towl number of stock options and with the last such vesting on Oelober 01, 2024,

The following toble illustrtes the number and weighted avernpge exercise prices (WAEP) of, and moverments it shore options during the peeiod

Aarch 31, 2023 Mareh 31,2022
Welghted
Yrelghied avernge .

Mo, of sharex EP per share” No ol shares aver:f:r::‘i' per
Mummber of opliasns « fing ot the beginning ol the year 30981 28 531,727 212
Granted during the year - . . .
Forfeited during the year 73,908 156G 128660 150
Expired during the year 54,545 42 514 T4z
Number of options ouistsnding at (e end of the vear 271,37 28 399,823 238
Vested aml nol exervised 162,219 342 184,488 341
The weighted average sxereise price per share is (ixcd in USD. The amount disclosed in [INR, are d d by mulriplying ise price per share i LST by

exchange rte of TNR §2.19 per USD as at March 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022 INR 75.87 per USD).

The weighted sverape penoini 1 1ife fior the ahare options ourstanding os a1 March 31, 2023 5.30 Years { Mn&ch 31,2022 was 6.28 years).

The ange of exercise prices for options owtszanding at the end of the period was [NR. 164,38 to TNR 821.90 ( March 31, 2022: INR 14832 0 INR
741.60)detemincd based on the exchange mie as oy the end of the respective reporting perind,

The woighted avernge share price cach share of he ultimate tolding company far exercise of options duriyg Lhe year endall March 31,2023 INR 180.69 (March 31,
3G22: INR 148.2), March 31, 2021: IR 101.71). ’

During 1he year cnded March 31, 2024, share based compensalion cost for these ESOP is recognized under persormel etpenses rmounting to INR 16 (March 31,
20332: 1 14). Refer 1o Note 24,

The expected tife of share options has been iaken as mid point between Tirst and lss available exvroise date,

The cxpested volstiliey reflects Ihe assumption based on historical valatilicy on the share prices of similar Campanies over a period.

The expected life of the share oplions is based on historica! dajn and current expectations and is not necessanily indicative of exercise paftorns Lhet may oceur. The

2004 Share Plan and 2006 Indla Shore Plon
Yatra Online, Inc. pursoant to the 2006 Plan” had spproved a grant, of whicl 386,063 shares have been granted 10 the employees of the Company.

The following wable Mustrmtes the number and weighted averape exescisc prices (WAEP} of, and movements in, share optlons during the yenr:

March31, 2023 March 31, 2022
Weighted
Welghted average .
No, of shares EP per share No. of shares nwn:?; :‘.;P per
Mumber of options cutstanding at the beginning of the year 204,224 29 219,986 327
Forfeited during i year - . . -
Expired during the yrar 3469 331 15762 351
Number of pptions cutstanding at the end of the year 203,855 39 104,224 2%
Vested and nou exercised 203855 3129 204,224 329

* The weighted averzpe exercise price per share is fixed in USD. The emount disclosed in INR ere delermined by mubiiplying exercise price per share in LSO by
exchange rate of TNR 82.0% per USD as a1 Marcl: 31, 2023 (March 31, 2022 INR 75.87 per USD).

The weiglned £ iiing | ife for the share sptions ouistending os at March 31, 2023 was 1,33 Years (March 31, 2022 was 233 years),

The mage of exercise prices for options outsianding a1 the end of the year was INR 336,70 {Morel 31, 2022: INR 32028 w INR 411.22) dewrmined based en the
exchange rale as a1 the end of the respective reporting period.

42 Capitalization of expend)ture

During the yeor, the Company s copitlized the following expenses af revenue noture to Uk cost of inngible asyet! fmongible osset under development,
Consequently. expenses distlosed under the respective notes are net of amounts capfiatized by ihe Comypany. Refer o noie 6.
Year ended Marcch 3L,

Partieul 2021} 2022

Salanecs, wages and banus 9517 691
Rent, mainlcnance ond ekectricity 30 135
Exiomat software developmenl cost 465 176

Total 1,456 §82




Yatra Online Limlted {formerly known as Yaira Onlloe P vate Limited)
MNotes 4o the consolldated Muwapclal sintements for the year ended Morch 31, 2023
(Amount in lakbs, exceps per share data aod number of shares)

43, Leuses

The Group has lease conbracts for various jlems of buildings and other equip used in its operations. Leases of buildings genemlly
huve Jease terms berween 2 and 9 years, while other equipment genetally have lease terms of 3 years, The Group's oblipations under its
tenses are secueed by the lessor's tile o the leased aascts. Ciencrally, the Group s restrizted from assiyming ol sublinaings the leased
assets and gome centraces require the Graup to maintain cermain fnansied ratios. There are several ease contracts thel inchude exiension
and terminstion options ane jabla lense paymenis,

Set out below are the camying amounts of tight-of-use asseis cecoynized and 1he movement during the period:

Buoildlngs Oihers Toial
Bnlance as of March 31, 2021 4,247 ™ 4324
Additions - - -
Dizletionat (1,419} - (1A419)
Deprechon (Refer nole 25) (532y % (&N
Balnnee 24 af March 31, 2022 1294 - 1296
Additions 185 118 g
Deleticns 3N - {39
Crepreciation {Refer nowe 25) 542y {9 15513
Holarcr as of March 31, 2023 1899 169 2@09
The following are the om recognlsed in profit or loss:
Yrar eoded March 31,
4 223 1 2022
Deprecintion expenas of right-of-use assel {Refer note 25) 351 : 611
{merest exponse on lzasc labilities (Refer noie 26) 36t 436
Expense relaring to short-lerm leases (Refer notz 27) 10 18
Tetal amount rmgnllm_'l in profi or loss 322 1088
The fodlvwing 18 the break-vp of current and noo-current tease labillties as of Marck 3¢, 2023 and March 31, 2022
Asat
. March 31, 2013 Dlarch 31, 2022
Current Leuse liabilities 47§ 189
Non-current icase liabikitics 204 2,307
Toral 2512 2,686
——
The following 1s the movement in tease linbillties duelag thee perind epded March 31, 2023 ood ond Mareh 31, 2022
As at
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022

Balaticr at the bepinnlng of the vear 1,696 4,838
Additions 302 .
Finance cosi accrued during the year (Reler note 26} 3461 436
Dielelinnsd #41 (1,574}
Gein on modilfication of leaset! renl concession (Refer oo 23) - 7
Paymizal of lcasc tinhiliies* (762} (9301
Batanre at the end of year 2512 1,696

# During the yoor ended March 31, 2022, the Company has rationnlized the space of its oMMice premises in Gurugrom, Haryena, On June
8, 2021, the Company bias entered inm a Memarandum of understanding to surrender port of its ofTice space. Out of the tota! space of
§3.98% square feat, the Comparmy has surrendered 36,275 aquare foet. As o result of the some, the ROU and lease lisbiline would be
decreased by INR 1,367 and by INE 1,568 respectively.

* During the year ended March 3, 2022, payment of leuse liabiliies has been adjusred with security deposii of INR 14 duc 1o
lermination of somw letse conimacs,

The toble below provides details regnrding the conltmetunl matvritics of lense labilitics as of March 31, 2023 and March 31,
2022 on an urdlscounied basis:

As at
Mtarch 31, 2023 March 11,2022
Less then one year 753 T
One 15 five years 31,008 2396
More than frve: years 286 Ed6
Totad 3,7 3586




Yaten Ooliae Limlied [tnrnsnly hnuwn a3 Yarrs Dolige Private Lhnjtedy
Woles o (b Tidaied for the yenr eheled Mareh 34, 2023

{Amopnt in bokhy, cxcept per shara daty and nnmber of share)

4

45

46

47

Eﬂm-tinnul flems

Befow table summatizes the exceplional ilans for e period end;

Purllculars Year ended Morch 31,
013 pJir s

Lngrirment of toan ta Joint vemmre" 14 737

Towl 1 727

¥ The Group, basal on is asseisment of the experted credh ket under Ind A5 105 an bown 16 Jonod venlsre gncbuding imterest] has recerted impairmienl of INR [0 23 a1 March 31, 2020 {dareh 11, 2027
IR 727) in comoildilod siatomemt of prafi and loas. Refer note 7.

Sutsecqueat Evenlz

Noo-Convertible Bebennure (NCDs)

Yara Ondine Limited have afiotted 300 NCDs and [00 NCDs 10 its existing Debenture Holders ie. Blacksoil Cupital Private Limited and Blacksail India Credit Fund {actiny through
its imvestment Blacksoil Azset Manag Private Limited) respeiively on August 17, 2023 aggregatiog to INR 2000 Lakhs. These NUiks shall be redeamicd wilh Inverest
1@, 14.15% p.a. during a perind of thiny menths from the Jate of alloiment. The Grst repsyment of principal sholl commence on Aptil 30,2026 and interest payment started from
Augusl 31, 2623, Post £2 months from the allotment date, il the tme amownt peyable to Blacksoil is atleast [NR 200 Lakds, Yot Joline Limiled shall have the nght ibut nal the
abligntion] 10 redecm any of all of the KCOs by paying all i Any prep 1 will asiract premivm of 2% on the amoun) beng rdcamediprapald. These NCDs

have been secured againn the i pari-passu chorge aver the movable Gvod assels and current dsscks (both present and fme),

Ezerga
Cn fanuay 2022, Oue, Ezesgo One Travel and Tours Linsited [“Fzeego™), being o company admitted int ingglveney hled o cumpn.ny pefition under Section 9 of the Insalvency &
Bankruptcy Code, 2018 (*Code™] before Nativsal company Law Tribunol, Mumbai ("NCLT™) secking i itiate corp fution plan of Yairs Omline Limited

{"Compuny Pelition”}. Ezeegn fited the Company Betitton pursuant 1o a demand netice dawed November 30, 202¢ demanding payment ufl‘Nﬁ 215 1o which Yatra issurd its reply
dated Decembeer U, 2021 stanpg thal he amount clximed by Ezeego 18 nat in accordance with its Books of accounts. The Company Petition was filed on the basis of o default of INR
315 (including lmerest). Yaua led is reply \o (he company petition along with an apphcation seeking rejection of the Company Petitian for Beitig barmed under Section 104 of tha
Code (*Appleation™), On Muceh [7, 3023, the NCLT diumissed the Application “NCLT Ceder™). Yaira challenged the NCLT Onder before the Mat Company Taw Appell
Trbumd, New Delhi ("NCLAT™). By an onder dated March 31, 2023, the NCLAT ailowed Yatm's sppeal and dismissed he Company Petilion fled apainst Yawa ("NCLAT Order).
Ezeego challeaged the NCLAT Onder bafoare the Supreme Coun $“Civil Appeal”). By an order dated May 02, 2023, Ezcego withdrew the Civil Appeat oo sccount of @ settlement
beiween the parties whereby Yalra paid o sum of TNR 160 1o Ezeego ns Rill add Anal senlement of all euvsiandlng dues betwaen 1he parties, Accordingly, the procesdings 2gainst
Yatn under the Coug stand concluded,

1
Listing rod related 2apenses ' ' .\

The Parens Company is conlemplating an witinl public olfering (the “Indian FPO™) of ils equity shares {*Equiry Shares™ ln Indin and hus §led 2 Draf Red Heming Prospecmus on
March 24, 2027 with Ihe Securities oo Exsbange Board of India (“SEBI), Company ko ineurred cosis i conncction with the 1PO. Company bas recsived the fing] abservation Tetler
dawed November 17, 2022 from the SEBY i connection with the DRF1P, The propastd PO <n open for subscription wilbin 12 months. The iming and completion, a0d lnvestor
jnteres rolaling 10, of the TPO ts subjee 1o vanous risks and uncertainties. )

locrementsl costs direcily atsbuahle tp a pobable futune equiry tansacton relaled io [PO thal otheradse would bave been avoded are reafed g5 u‘msactlun ¢Dsts and are recogmscd
45 0 prepaiid e:pense These costs rc:og.nqsui s a prepnid expenses will be recopnized in eqwey when the equlty jon is recopmised, or ised 1n profit o loss if the isswe s
na Ionger d10 be d, The jng coats neumed are recognised in prafit ar loss under head listing and refaied espenses.

Tolsl cumulative sxpense inaomea B Mareh 31, 2023 /s IMR 1,090 (March 3t, 2022 INR B38), owt of which INR 284 (March 31, 1022; [NR 209} is recorded in prepaid ¢xpemss as
at March 31, 2023 and the remaining oost incurced of INR 236 ¢ March 3, 2022: [NR 538) 2rc récogniscd in stalement of prafit and loss under head listing and related expenses for
the ended Morcl 31, 2023,

(ther Smfotory Information
(i), The Company has not advenced or loaned or invesicd funds o any othey persond{s} or entiny(ies), including forrign cotilics () with the under ding that the
Intermdinry shall directly or idirecily lend or invest in other persons of ¢olines identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf’ of e pany (Utmote B faring) or

prévide any puamntee, secutity of the like W or ot bebalf of the Ultimate Beueficianes,

(). The Company has nol received any furd from apy person{s) or antty(ies), including faveign entities (Funding Party) with the eoderstanding {whether 1 i writng oF
otherwisy) that the Company shall directly or indirecily leod of invest in other persons or eatities identified] in zny monges whatsoever by or on behall of the Fimding Pasy (Wtimale
Benefidories) or provide ioy gunraniee, sechrity or the like on behall of the Ultimeie Beneficiarizs,

(G#) The Company has halance with the by mentioned compunic struck off under sectlon 239 of the C'ampanka Acz, 2013

Dakance O il § b p nith
Mame of siruck 9T compuay Natere of iraneaction with i struck off
sivuck ofT Comparey Camprm T3
March 3L, s Ry
13 Nfzrch 21,2031

Arealty Towrs And Traveln Provate Limited C e - - Nome
Blulya__ll epfise Private Limijed C ustomer -+ - Hons
Tnvdm Provate Limited Cuyfomey i - Nosne
Cuitomer -+ - None
Custumeet = - None
Customicr - - None
s toamr - -+ Nong
Castomer - -* Nong
Cuttemer - - Mona
1T usiamer el - Nome
Jezllne Travely Private Umiied [ - -* None
Lambency Travels Private t Iodied Ciottitier - - “one
Mand India Limiled Cuitomer -* =* Mang
My Trave Solulion Private Limitad Custemer -* -+ Nong
Namrata Holidayx Fravaee Limszed C ushomer - -* Wit
New Vigon Symeay Prevate Lemited Cuziamer -+ - Nong
Wi Faxitivy Marageme Erivate Limited Cmtomer - - Nooe
Oy Miytravel Brivatr Cimited {Custapmer - . Mong
Panoramic Holidays Lintiiad Cutterse - K None
Parampar Services Private Limned Cutirtier -4 -* Moo
Pasvani liotikbus Provare Limted [ urigmey - -* Noae
Tavels Aod Tradmg Privale Limfied Cusomer -+ - None
Travels lfia Povale Limited  |Cuztomer -* - Mone
11 ate Lenwtead Lt - - Mime
crratwnad Private Linuial L lumer - -* Nene




Yautra Caline Limlted (formerly koown s Yatma Oollue Private Linsdted)

Nores [o the Udared fy fur the year ¢aded Marck 31, 2023
Amount in o exgept per share dava and oumber of shares
Rt Leivury Wdidus Private Limged £ atemT & Nane
Sino Bridge Internathenal Private Limited Custanwr bhi o None
Three J Crlene Servioes Privaie Limsted Cusdomer - Nong
‘T To Trip Privie Linited CuztonsT - -* MNonge
Gomi Filaments L imged Lt - Noae
Aany Travelogue Frivaig Limited Customer - None
Ablavya Tours & Travels Frivate Limited Customer - MNone
Corporate Reons Hlepitntity Brivate Limiwd  |Customer - i
Drryn Yatra Sangh Private Limited Customer - None
Mumrvu Dolee Sofunon Prvarr Limited | Clastomer - Hone
Sarthi Tonrs Privale Lumited Cusromer - Nanc
Shree Global Holldays Indla Private Limicod Cimtorney - None
5 b Wi nhalaxin Vecatioos Privaie Limite! Custone - Nont
| T veniti Travel Servica Privato Limbied Cuntamer - Nong
Pormal Traveledak Jodis Private Limitod Castonive -+ =" Mone
Crment Eloctewcals Limitad Cuspamer -+ Mone
Plunet Mobils Privoie [imited s onrer - None
Hoet Oanig Private Lmited Customer - Naong
Fiolel Priver Palsce Private Limired Cusitomer - -* None
Hewel Peninsula Privote Limdied Cumamer -+ - None
hMm Regedency Provats Limied Curtomer -* - Nene
Hatel ¥uishnavi Palece Private Limited Customer - - hone
Patiipoien Fasblon Privaie Limndted Custrmat -* -* Nong
Hiclel Sagar Petace Privale Limitad Cusiome - - Nang
P romtier Rexidency Private Limilad Cuztiomer d -+ Mone
Rjsaly Resort Private Limited Cusiomer - - None
Doy Rideney Private Lunited Custatier - -* Wane
¥ ighiiy Residency Private Litind Caslome - -+ None
Hatel Sanjay Privaee Limdted Cuatomer -" -* Nene
Surya Holidsys Private Limdied ICumromyer - -4 Wone
R.ggal Paloce Hotel Prvuis Limiled Cuglomer - - e
H el Maya Private Livomed Coiome -+ -* Nooe
Samnudhi Suitss Privare Limited Customer -* -+ None
Phesnix Haliday Homes Provaie Limited Cosoma - -4 Moge
Hoted Admiral Private Llindisd Cmsiomer - - Nonz
5ri Moemakahl Rid Frivaie Eimlial Cuslomer - None
Gokien Villey Reorts Privale Lisubed Custonrer - Mone
Sweet Home Binpiality Private Limied Customer - Nofs
Sz Covtags Private Limied '|Cwtomer +4 Noge
Parplise Retorty Private Limbied + [Cripmar B Noge
M odern Greup O Hohs (Hotel Mannval Private Customer - None
Apsorva Retorts Private Lindied Catitmer el Mone
Hieel Argrma Provare Limilgd Culomer - None
Howd Fagarmoth Privete Lanned Citomer i None
Blue Ocmn Roidmey Privato Limurad Customer -* Noge
Witich Bullders Py, Lid ( Unk Comfont Ion LuckCoslomer -+ None
Bluc Qozn Residency Privare Limlial Cusipimer - Mone
Mo Asavtha, Private Limited Custiener K None
34/5 Hote] Vinayak Prrvare Lumibad Customer -* None
Hatr Winayak Frivaze Limited Cussomer = Nan=
Halgd Mtidland Pejvate Linited Cusicatier -+ Nonc
‘Homl Blur Bird Privatz Limlied Cuslomer - Kone
Conniery I Privare Limived Ciastmet = MNone
Hotd ShivaTik Privane Lunited Cuaomer -* Mane
S G Enterpries Private Lt Cumromer o Mone
Raj Resadency Privato Limited C e - Martin
Hotd Mt Heera Privaic Limbled Cuscomter - Mone
Haid Emnerald Privaie Limited Customer =* Noge
$iotd Cuy Cenme Prvate Lamued Cusipmer -4 Nooe
Hetd Fafmabal Private Limirad Cusirmnor -* Mone
Hatsl Vijay Privale Limieet Cratomer - Naone
Metm Touris? Home Private [omited Cusstomer -+ None
Noied Crenvas [ Unlt OF Miteah Etuerprise) Private [ Custoenct Lt Nane
5z Hospitalty Privite [ mjted Cratonier - None
Hotet Sirnn Privare Loviied € atgeeer - Nona
Hatdl Raj M ahal Private Limired C tenier - Nong
Hotd Shepral Private Laited Customer -* Mone
Hoted Mahasam Frivase Limite! Customer - Mone
15 Hioled Natata) Prvaie L imitod Customer - None
Horet Methdood Private Limited L rstammer -+ Mous
Hotet Sanadmgi Private Limited Cusiomer - None
Hotd Hanla Privare Limited Cuaramer -+ Nong
Hotd Roval Private Elmied Crsiomer -* Mone
M Waoda Tourist pe Privae infred Cultoser = Mong
Hote! Brince Palzee Frivate Limiied Ciestamer - Nope
Cisstomer -t Natie
Cusomer . None
Hued Crowm Private Limite! Customer el Wone
Vernus Inn Lodging Private Limited Ciestomer - MNooe
Hotd Kaverd Private Limdied Claratner - Wine
Hoed Sea Brecze Privale Limlted Crsimmer -+ None
Infrostrucoure Developmem Caparation Privale L|Custiomer - -* Mong
LB M Industress Lumied Cusiomer - =* None
Jubilan? Logistics Lintited Customer - -* None
T FirnL Comyury Minviz Bavale Limired Custoer - -+ Nooe
Sca il Aschiteciure Softwarg Privase Limited | Customer -* -* Mone
Poarh Tour & Traveds Private Lumied vl - -* None
Malaha Tour Plennens Frovate Eimied Cutiomer -* -* Nonz
Cormfort Hoick Private Limited Curster - ol None
Hudiim E-Com Solutions Private Limked Custurmer - - Nage
ipoal Privare Liuled Cuptomer - -~ None
thery rivate Limited [ Cuniomer -* Nane
ort Fravate T ninted Cusiomer - -~ Mone
_:.;-5 r 0 Poate Limiterd Customer - -* Wone
EEDE Sar i = s Provate Lasmmned Cusromer I Nong
&S LY
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Yatra Onfloe Limlicel ¢formerly koawn as Vo

tru Culloe Private Lizolied)
Tor ibe year ended March 34, 2613

Nates to the

{Aninunt in Bslke, ereept por shore daila end yumbee of shares

Hlel Cas Privave Licnited [ .l None
Hotel Swegaih Private Limued Cuglomes - None
Hetel Saptanshi Prvare Limsied Customer -* Naone
Southom Plaza Private Lotitsd Costomar - None
Chiske'$ Hoted Privave Lumited Custonier - Nonz
vt Holidoys Privaie Limliod Cutiome - Mone
Mokcha Tour Plagners Privare Lonited C nsiomer -+ N arie
Hoiel Blue Star Prvate Dimited Cusimer -* Nope
Haetel teon Private Limived Cusbommer -" Nane
Witlsor Hetel Private Limiced Cusamer - Notie
Hotel Sodanand Privaw Limital Cudtomer == None
Heiel Shivaloh Private Limitad Custamer -* Nong N
Surnmue Privare Lomited Cuiome =+ Nooe
Hotet Srmrpn Private Lirtirsd Cutiemer -* None
Costome = MNaong

*Atsolute amount is less than INR 1.

48 Previow year figares

Cestain reclpssifications kave beea mado in the financia] siatcments of prior peviods to conform 1o the ¢lasslfvotion used in the current penod. The impact of such rectassifications on

(he financial statements is not matenal.
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